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REGULATOR’S FOREWORD 

The 2016-17 financial year has been a busy year for the Tasmanian Economic Regulator (Regulator) and 
the Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator (OTTER). During the financial year, the Regulator 
approved the 2017-18 Standing Offer electricity prices, the regulated electricity Feed-in Tariff (FiT) rate, 
Bass Strait Island (BSI) electricity tariffs, and MAIB insurance premiums applying from December 2017. 

The Electricity Network Reliability Review Final Report was published in October 2016 and a review of 
the Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument was completed in March 2017. The Regulator also 
completed a pricing investigation into the Motor Accident Insurance Board’s (MAIB) pricing policies and 
commenced an investigation to determine TasWater’s prices and service standards that will apply from 
1 July 2018. 

Apart from reviews and investigations, the Regulator undertook numerous monitoring and reporting 
activities that resulted in the following publications during the year: 

 the Tasmanian Water and Sewerage State of the Industry Report 2015-16; 

 the Energy in Tasmania Report 2015-16; 

 the APAYG Price Comparison Report August 2016 edition;  

 August 2016 and February 2017 editions of the Comparison of Australian Standing Offer Energy 

Prices report; and  

 weekly Tasmanian Market Watch bulletins that summarise the outcomes of the National Electricity 

Market in relation to the Tasmanian region. 

During 2017-18, the Regulator will conduct the TasWater price and service investigation, which involves 
considerable consultation with TasWater, other industry regulators, and most importantly the public. 
The public consultation process, which enables the public to respond to the Regulator’s draft decisions, 
is scheduled from the end of November 2017 to late January 2018. The investigation is required to be 
completed in June 2018.   

During 2017-18, the Regulator is expected to acquire a new energy security monitor and assessor role, 
resulting from the Government’s Tasmanian Energy Security Taskforce recommendations.  

Apart from the major tasks mentioned, the Regulator will continue to discharge its functions related to 
competitive neutrality complaints, licencing, and performance monitoring and reporting. 

In performing its functions, the Regulator must balance a number of objectives and responsibilities set 
out in relevant legislation. The Regulator aims to balance these objectives in transparent decisions, 
informed by an open and consultative approach with stakeholders and the community, to achieve the 
best long term outcomes for Tasmanians. 

I would like to thank the OTTER staff who have worked diligently to achieve the 2016-17 outcomes. 
Their commitment, expertise, and professionalism is critical to the Regulator being able to meet its 
obligations to stakeholders and the Tasmanian community. 

Joe Dimasi  

Tasmanian Economic Regulator  
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES 

Project Output Outcomes 
Link to objectives or 
functions  

Economic Regulation       

MAIB Pricing 
Investigation 

Investigation into the 
MAIB pricing policies Final 
Report. 

Recommendation to the 
Government on MAIB's 
maximum premiums for 
the four years from 1 
December 2017.  

Protecting the interests of 
customers. 

Approval of MAIB 
insurance premiums 

Approval of MAIB’s 
proposed premiums for 
the period 
1 December 2016 to 
30 November 2017. 

Premiums that are 
consistent with the 
Government’s MAIB 
Order. 

Approval of prices or 
pricing policies of a 
monopoly service 
provider. 

Electricity Regulation       

Wholesale Contract 
Regulatory Instrument 
Pricing Investigation 

2017 Wholesale Contract 
Regulatory Instrument.  

The Instrument is set until 
30 June 2024. 

Support the introduction 
of retail competition. 

Monitoring of regulated 
wholesale contract 
activities 

Tasmanian Market Watch 
weekly bulletin. 

Provide information to 
stakeholders on regulated 
contracts offered by 
Hydro Tasmania. 

Maintain wholesale 
electricity market. 

Standing offer price 
regulation 

Approval of standing offer 
prices for 2017-18 in 
accordance with the 
Ministerial Notice. 

Standing offer prices set 
in accordance with the 
Minister's Order. 

Protecting the interests of 
customers. 

Feed-in-Tariff (FiT) rates 
regulation 

Approval of the FiT rate 
for the period 2017-18 in 
accordance with the 2016 
FiT Determination for 
standard FiT customers. 

Efficient provision of 
electricity retail services 
to FiT customers. 

Protecting the interests of 
customers. 

Approval of the Bass 
Strait Islands tariffs 

Approval of Hydro 
Tasmania’s tariff schedule 
consistent with the 
Community Service 
Obligation contract. 

Protection of regulated 
tariffs in respect of both 
price and conditions of 
supply. 

Protect the interests of 
customers. 

Performance monitoring 
of Tasmania Electricity 
Supply Industry and Gas 
Supply Industry 

Energy in Tasmania 
Report 2015-16. 

Energy entities within 
Tasmania are accountable 
for delivery of services 
measured against 
appropriate standards. 

Providing industry 
performance information. 

Network Reliability 
Review 

Network Reliability 
Review Final Report. 

Addresses a number of 
issues facing the ESI in 
the medium term. 

Maintenance of an 
efficient ESI system.  

Aurora Pay As You Go 
(APAYG) price monitoring 

Prepayment Price 
Comparison Report. 

Information provided for 
customers to choose 
between Aurora Energy's 
regulated prices and 
APAYG products. 

Protecting the interests of 
customers. 
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Price monitoring 

Comparison of Australian 
electricity standing offer 
gas and electricity prices 
reports. 

Information provided 
comparing Aurora 
Energy's standing offer 
electricity prices and 
Aurora Energy and Tas 
Gas Retail's gas prices 
with similar products in 
other states and 
territories. 

Protecting the interests of 
customers. 

Compliance monitoring 
Independent appraisal of 
Tasmanian Networks Pty 
Ltd’s compliance plan. 

Entities are compliant 
with their regulatory 
obligations and that their 
management plans are fit 
for purpose. 

Monitoring the 
compliance of entities 
with their licence 
conditions. 

  

Independent appraisal of 
Hydro Tasmania’s BSI 
operations’ compliance 
plan. 

  
Protecting the interests of 
customers. 

Electricity licensing Renewed AETV's licence. 
Effective licencing of 
Tasmania ESI participants. 

Administer the licensing 
system for electricity 
entities.  

  
Renewed Musselroe 
Wind Farm's licence 

    

  
Amended Woolnorth 
Studland Bay Wind Farm's 
licence 

    

  
Amended Bluff Point 
Wind Farm's licence. 

    

Assessment of Tasmanian 
residential electricity 
usage 

Typical Electricity 
Customers 2017 Report. 

Typical customers defined 
to be used in price 
assessments and 
comparisons. 

Protecting the interests of 
electricity customers. 

Gas Regulation       

Gas licensing 
Amended Origin Energy 
Tasmania's licence. 

Effective licencing of 
Tasmanian gas supply 
industry participants. 

Administer the licensing 
system for gas entities. 

Compliance monitoring 
Appraisal of Tas Gas 
Retail’s compliance plan. 

Recommendations to 
monitor for Tas Gas 
Retail’s compliance plan.  

Administer the licensing 
system for gas entities. 

  

Appraisal of Aurora 
Energy’s gas retail 
operations compliance 
plan. 

Recommendations to 
monitor Aurora Energy’s 
gas retail operations 
compliance plan. 

Administer the licensing 
system for gas entities. 
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Water and Sewerage 
Regulation 

      

Price and Service 
Determination 
Investigation 

Request for Quotation for 
consultants to review 
TasWater’s Operating 
Expenditure and Capital 
Expenditure. 

ARUP Group appointed to 
carry out consultancy for 
Regulator's investigation. 

Regulation of prices, 
terms and conditions for 
regulated services. 

  

 
Notification of Regulator's 
intention to conduct a 
price determination 
investigation.  

  
Protect the long term 
interests of water and 
sewerage customers. 

      

Efficient and sustainable 
provision of reliable and 
secure water and 
sewerage services. 

Compliance monitoring 
and enforcement 

Appraisal of TasWater’s 
performance data. 

Recommendations to 
help TasWater improve 
the reliability and 
accuracy of its 
performance indicator 
reporting. 

Monitoring the 
compliance of entities 
with their licence 
conditions. 

State of the Tasmanian 
Water and Sewerage 
Industry Report 

Tasmanian Water and 
Sewerage State of the 
Industry Report 2015-16. 

TasWater performance 
measured against 
appropriate standards. 

Monitor and report on 
TasWater's performance. 
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1  INTRODUCTION 

The Regulator is required by Section 22 of the Economic Regulator Act 2009 (ER Act) to prepare an 
annual report, which includes: 

 the performance and exercise of the Regulator’s functions and powers; 

 information on competitive neutrality complaints; 

 audited financial statements; 

 any information the Minister requires; and  

 any other information the Regulator considers appropriate. 

The Regulator’s statutory functions and powers are defined in the ER Act. The Regulator also has 
regulatory responsibility under the Electricity Supply Industry Act 1995 (ESI Act); the Gas Act 2000 (Gas 
Act); the Gas Pipelines Act 2000 (Gas Pipelines Act); and Water and Sewerage Industry Act 2008 (W&SI 
Act). 

The following diagram outlines the various types of regulatory instruments governing the energy supply 
industry and water and sewerage sector in Tasmania. It illustrates the relationship between legislation, 
including both general and industry specific law that applies to these industries, regulations and Orders 
in Council, and other instruments such as licences, guidelines and codes, which may be issued by the 
Regulator. 

Whilst the Regulator has certain statutory responsibilities, a major part of the responsibility for 
implementing and developing the gas, electricity, and water and sewerage regulatory schemes rests 
with industry participants. 

The Regulator does not seek to intervene in the day-to-day management of these industries. Rather, 
the Regulator seeks to ensure that all stakeholders are provided with sufficient information to properly 
assess the performance of the industry participants in meeting their regulatory obligations. The primary 
emphasis is on transparency and disclosure.  

The Regulator monitors and enforces the regulated entities’ compliance with their regulatory 
obligations. Incidences of non-compliance during 2016-17 are discussed in the following sections of the 
report: 

 Wholesale Pricing Contract Regulation (Hydro Tasmania) - section 3.5 

 Tas Gas Retail’s compliance plan - section 4.1.2.1 

 Status of TasWater’s compliance with the W&S Reporting Guideline - section 5.5 



12 ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 

 

 

 



ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 13 

 

2  ECONOMIC REGULATION 

The Regulator’s functions and powers under the ER Act include: 

 independent investigations and inquiries into the pricing policies of certain Government-owned 

bodies, that are monopoly, or near monopoly, providers of services and goods in Tasmania, which 

include the MAIB; 

 recommending maximum prices chargeable by these bodies in respect of the supply of those 

services and goods; 

 provide an advisory role on Metro Tasmania’s pricing to the Department of State Growth and the 

Department of Treasury and Finance (Treasury) when required; 

 conducting investigations into complaints of breaches of the national competition policy 

competitive neutrality principles against State and local government businesses; and 

 conducting taxi fare methodology inquiries when requested by the Government. 

 MAIB Pricing Investigation 

On 12 December 2016, the Regulator was requested to conduct an investigation into the MAIB‘s pricing 
policies, with respect to motor accidents (personal injury) insurance. The Regulator was required to 
recommend maximum premiums for the four years from 1 December 2017. The investigation was 
conducted in line with the Terms of Reference issued by the Treasurer having obtained the agreement 
of the Minister for Infrastructure (the Minister administering the Motor Accidents (Liabilities and 
Compensation) Act 1973). 

To assist in the investigation, the Regulator engaged the services of the actuarial firm Finity Consulting 
Pty Ltd. 

The Regulator received a preliminary submission from the MAIB in February 2017 and sought public 
submissions on it, as well as on the Terms of Reference. 

After considering submissions, the Regulator released a draft report in May 2017. After considering 
further submissions and seeking advice from the Department of State Growth on current regulatory and 
procedural requirements for ride-sourcing operators and vehicles, the Regulator submitted its Final 
Report to the Government on 20 July 2017 and published it on its website. 

The Regulator’s major recommendations were: 

 premiums for most classes, including private motor cars (Class 1), remain unchanged from current 

maximum premiums; 

 a new class be created for vehicles used to provide ride-sourcing services (eg Uber) and that the 

maximum premium for these vehicles be the same as payable on private motor cars; 

 small premium decreases for medium public passenger vehicles, motor trade plates, farm tractors 

and special interest vehicles;  

 small premium increases for motorcycles, taxis, luxury hire cars and off-road and recreational 

vehicles; and  
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 from 1 December 2018, the MAIB be allowed to increase maximum premiums for all vehicles in line 

with the growth in wages.  

The recommendations related to ride-sourcing vehicles were made based on there being insufficient 
data about the risks of operating a ride-sourcing vehicle to be able to recommend specific premiums 
for these vehicles. The Regulator indicated that once sufficient data is available, the level of risk, and 
therefore the maximum premium for vehicles used for these purposes, can be re-assessed. 

The Government will decide on the premiums to apply from 1 December 2017. 

 Price Approvals 

In August 2016, the MAIB sought the Regulator’s approval of its proposed motor vehicle premiums for 
the 12 month period from 1 December 2016, in accordance with the ER Act. 

The Regulator approved the proposed premiums after confirming that they were consistent with the 
Economic Regulator (MAIB Premiums) Order 2013 as, in all cases, they were less than the maximum 
premiums permitted under the Order. 

This approval related to the final year of the four year regulatory period covered by the Order made on 
1 October 2013. 

 Competitive neutrality complaints 

The National Competition Principles Agreement requires Government businesses to operate within a 

framework that ensures they do not enjoy any net competitive advantage simply because of their public 

ownership. This is the concept of competitive neutrality.  

As a general principle, significant State and local government businesses should reflect full 

Commonwealth and state taxes or tax equivalents, be liable for debt guarantee fees, face the same 

regulatory framework as their private sector counterparts, and earn a commercial return on the capital 

invested in them.  

The ER Act empowers the Regulator to investigate alleged breaches of the National Competition Policy 

competitive neutrality principles by State and local government businesses. 

2.3.1 Complaints mechanism guideline 

The Competitive Neutrality Complaints Mechanism Guideline (CNCM Guideline) sets out an overview of 

the processes for the investigation of complaints about alleged breaches of, and non-compliance with, 

competitive neutrality principles under the National Competition Policy. The CNCM Guideline describes: 

 the role of the Regulator as it relates to the review of complaints;  

 the procedure to be followed by complainants; and 

 the internal review process required of Government bodies (referred to as ‘prescribed bodies’ in 

the Act) in relation to complaints made against Government business activities. 
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2.3.2 Investigations 

During 2015-16, the Regulator investigated a competitive neutrality complaint, against the West Coast 

Council. The complainants alleged that the Council had contravened the National Competition Policy 

Competitive Neutrality Principles by not applying full cost attribution in providing free camping services 

at Stitt Park in Rosebery and at the Queenstown Recreation Ground, in competition with and to the 

detriment of the complainant’s caravan parks. 

After completing the investigation, the Regulator found that the complaint was justified and made a 

number of recommendations to ensure that the Council comply with the competitive neutrality 

principles. (Please refer to pages 50-51 of the Regulator’s Annual Report 2015-16 for further details of 

the investigation and outcomes.) 

In May 2017, the Regulator received a request from the Treasurer to provide further information on 

compliance with competitive neutrality principles by the Council relating to this 2015-16 complaint and 

investigation. The Regulator investigated, in consultation with the Council, and reported to the 

Treasurer in June 2017. 
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3  ELECTRICITY REGULATION 

The Regulator’s functions under electricity legislation have historically reflected the fact that the major 
Government owned electricity entities have significant market power in Tasmania. In this environment, 
most customers require the protection of regulation for both price and conditions of supply as 
customers cannot negotiate on an equal footing with the service providers. However, larger customers 
can negotiate successfully even when dealing with a monopoly provider.  

Tasmania’s participation in the National Electricity Market (NEM), national energy regulation reform, 
and state-based regulatory reform has, over time, had an impact on the functions of the Regulator. 

Economic regulation (pricing and access) of electricity transmission services was transferred from the 
Regulator to the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission in 2003. On 1 January 2008, 
amendments to the ESI Act and the Electricity – National Scheme (Tasmania) Act 1999 transferred the 
economic regulation of Tasmania’s distribution network to a single national regulator, the Australian 
Energy Regulator (AER). 

Until 1 June 2010, several safety functions were vested with the Regulator under the Electricity Industry 
Safety and Administration Act 1997 (EISA Act) and the ESI Act. Safety-related responsibilities were 
transferred to WorkSafe Tasmania (WT) via an amendment to the EISA Act and ESI Act in 2009. 

On 1 July 2012, Tasmania implemented the National Energy Customer Framework (NECF) for the sale 
and supply of electricity to retail customers. This resulted in a further transfer of non-economic 
regulatory functions to the AER. Although NECF replaced the majority of the Tasmanian electricity 
regulatory framework that regulated the customer, retailer, and distributor relationships, retail pricing 
continues to be a jurisdictional responsibility. Likewise technical and safety regulation, including the 
setting of some performance standards, which remain with the states and territories. The Regulator is 
the ‘jurisdictional regulator’ for the purposes of the National Electricity Law (NEL). 

Retail competition was introduced for all customers on mainland Tasmania from 1 July 2014. However, 
while there are some retailers offering contracts for business customers, apart from Aurora Energy 
there are no other retailers offering market contracts for residential customers in Tasmania. 

The ESI Act is supported by regulations with respect to price control, standing offer customer protection, 
retail contestability and licence exemptions, and the Tasmanian Electricity Code (TEC) that encompasses 
technical specifications and procedures not covered by arrangements in the NEM. 

The Regulator has various functions under ESI Act, and administers the TEC and other related regulatory 
instruments. The Regulator has a number of key responsibilities including: 

 administering the licensing system for electricity supply industry (ESI) entities and monitoring and 

enforcing their compliance with licence conditions (noting that the requirement for licences in the 

retail sector on mainland Tasmania is performed by the AER under the provisions of the NECF); 

 issuing and maintaining the TEC; 

 monitoring the wholesale market for electricity and monitoring the performance of the electricity 

supply industry in Tasmania; 

 monitoring and regulating certain technical standards in the ESI; 

 conducting investigations into the pricing policies of entities that supply declared electrical services; 
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 regulation of standing offer retail electricity prices to be offered by Aurora Energy, which apply as a 

regulated contract option for customers following the introduction of full retail competition from 

1 July 2014; 

 regulation of electricity feed-in tariff prices for eligible small scale renewable generation systems 

(mostly solar photo voltaic systems);  

 promoting efficiency and competition in the ESI including monitoring and reporting on the 

development of competition; and 

 administering the arrangements for the regulation of certain financial contracts offered by 

Hydro Tasmania to electricity retailers operating in Tasmania. 

The Regulator’s objectives in exercising its functions include:  

 the promotion of efficiency and competition in the ESI; 

 the establishment and maintenance of an efficient system of electricity generation, transmission, 

distribution, and supply;  

 the establishment and enforcement of proper standards of safety, reliability and quality in the ESI; 

and 

 the protection of the interests of electricity consumers.  

 Changes to the electricity regulatory framework  

Changes to the electricity regulatory framework can have significant effects on customers and ESI 
participants. During 2016-17, the Tasmanian Government made several changes to the regulatory 
framework.  

3.1.1 Electricity Supply Industry Amendment (Pricing) 

In early 2017, the Tasmanian Government indicated its intention to provide for an alternative method 
of determining maximum prices due to the impacts on Tasmanian wholesale electricity markets linked 
to price volatility to mainland National Electricity Market jurisdictions.  

On 2 May 2017, the Government introduced the Electricity Supply Industry Amendment (Pricing) Bill 
2017. The amendments in the Bill provided the Treasurer with the power to: 

 set the wholesale electricity price (WEP) that is used in calculating the Wholesale Electricity Cost in 

the Notional Maximum Revenue (NMR) by means of a WEP Order; and   

 issue a Ministerial Notice specifying the criteria the Regulator must take into account when 

assessing proposed standing offer prices. 

The Bill received Royal Assent on 2 June 2017 and, on 13 June 2017, the Regulator received a letter from 
the Treasurer advising of the making of a WEP Order and the issuing of a Ministerial Notice. 
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3.1.2 Monitor and Assessor Role - Tasmanian Energy Security Taskforce 

The Tasmanian Government established the Tasmanian Energy Security Taskforce (the Taskforce) to 
identify ways to help future proof Tasmania from the types of energy security challenges the State 
experienced in early 2016. 

The Taskforce released its Interim Report and preliminary recommendations to the Tasmanian 

Government on 21 December 2016. Among the preliminary recommendations that related (or 

potentially related) to the Regulator were recommendations for the establishment of two new energy 

security oversight roles as follows: 

 a Monitor and Assessor to provide independent oversight and transparent public reporting of 

energy security; and 

 an Energy Security Coordinator to coordinate responses and manage electricity supply risks when 

water storages are at or below predetermined risk levels. 

In January 2017, the Taskforce sought the Regulator’s opinion on how easily the Regulator could fulfil 

the proposed functions of the Monitor and Assessor and how well these functions would meet the 

overall objectives of the Taskforce.  

The Regulator provided feedback to the Taskforce regarding the functional specifications for these two 
roles in February 2017, and continued to liaise with the Taskforce and the Department of State Growth 
in the time leading up to the release of the Taskforce’s Final Report in August 2017.  

While there were no changes to the regulatory framework during 2016-17 from the Taskforce’s Final 
Report, potential future changes will likely be discussed in the Regulator’s 2017-18 annual report. 

 Electricity Licensing  

The ESI Act provides for the Regulator to issue licences for generation, transmission, distribution, and 

retail operations (on the Bass Strait Islands) in the Tasmanian ESI. 

3.2.1 Licences 

As at 30 June 2017, the following entities held generation licences:  

 The Hydro-Electric Corporation (Hydro Tasmania). Hydro Tasmania also held retail, distribution and 

generation licences for the electricity generation and supply assets and retail operations on King 

Island and Flinders Island.  

 AETV Pty Ltd 

 Woolnorth Bluff Point Wind Farm Pty Ltd  

 Woolnorth Studland Bay Wind Farm Pty Ltd  

 LMS Energy Pty Ltd  

 Musselroe Wind Farm Pty Ltd  

 Tasmanian Irrigation Pty Ltd  

 Simplot Australia Pty Ltd  
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Basslink Pty Ltd (Basslink) held a Tasmanian electricity transmission licence for the transmission of 

electricity over those sections of the Basslink interconnector system located within the Tasmanian 

jurisdiction.  

Tasmanian Networks Pty Ltd (TasNetworks) held licences for both electricity transmission and 

distribution in Tasmania. 

3.2.1.1 Licence amendments 

On 27 June 2017, the Regulator amended the electricity generation licence held by Woolnorth Studland 

Bay Wind Farm Pty Ltd to include a 4.96 km long transmission line as part of the generating plant. 

On 27 June 2017, the Regulator amended the electricity generation licence held by Woolnorth Bluff 

Point Wind Farm Pty Ltd to include a 43.7 km long transmission line as part of the generating plant.  

3.2.1.2 Licence renewals 

On 29 May 2017, the Regulator renewed the electricity generation licence held by AETV Pty Ltd for a 

further ten years, effective from 12 July 2017. 

On 27 June 2017, the Regulator renewed the electricity generation licence held by Musselroe Wind 

Farm Pty Ltd for a further ten years, effective from 2 August 2017. 

Cascade Renewable Energy Pty Ltd did not renew a generation licence to operate an impulse type hydro 

turbine connected to the existing irrigation pipe from the Cascade Dam (1.15 MW). The licence expired 

on 25 May 2017 and was not required to be renewed due to the total generation capacity being less 

than 5 MW. 

During 2016-17, all electricity licence applications received for renewal, and requests for amendment, 

were approved. There were no other licences transferred, licences surrendered or new licences issued 

during the period. 

3.2.2 Independent Appraisals 

A licence issued in accordance with provisions of the ESI Act requires the licensee to, amongst other 
things, develop and submit relevant management plans and a compliance plan to the Regulator.  

The Regulator regularly seeks assurance that entities’ management plans and compliance plans are 
adequate, and that entities are complying with relevant plans, by engaging suitably qualified 
independent appraisers to review those plans. The appraisers evaluate and report on the risks of non-
compliance by examining the relevant entity’s processes, policies and procedures; and by reviewing 
management plans, compliance plans, and performance outcomes. 

The Regulator is not required to approve the appraisal reports it receives. Rather, the Regulator 
considers the reports, raises any particular areas of concern with the relevant entity, and then monitors 
the implementation of any recommended changes to the entity’s practices.  

During 2016-17, the following independent appraisals relating to licenced electricity entities were 
completed. 
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3.2.2.1 Bass Strait Islands Operations Compliance Plan 

In July 2016, the Regulator approved Hydro Tasmania’s engagement of Ascension Consulting 
(Ascension) to independently appraise Hydro Tasmania’s BSI operations compliance plan. Ascension 
submitted its report to the Regulator on 4 October 2016. 

Ascension observed that Hydro Tasmania’s commitment to compliance on the BSI meets the same 
industry standard as is evident across Hydro Tasmania’s other business functions. Ascension concluded 
that the BSI compliance plan conforms to relevant Australian Standards and provides the basis for Hydro 
Tasmania to meet its licence obligations on the BSI. As part of its review, Ascension made a series of 
recommendations for improvement for Hydro Tasmania’s consideration. The Regulator will monitor 
Hydro Tasmania’s implementation of these suggested improvements. 

3.2.2.2 TasNetworks’ compliance plan 

Also in July 2016, the Regulator approved TasNetworks’ engagement of KPMG to independently 
appraise TasNetworks’ compliance plan. KPMG submitted its report to the Regulator on 27 October 
2016. 

KPMG found that TasNetworks had made ‘…excellent progress in designing and developing its 
compliance management systems…’ while noting that ‘…further action is required to fully implement 
the (compliance plan) Framework.’ As part of its review, KPMG also made a series of recommendations 
for improvement for TasNetworks’ consideration. The Regulator will monitor TasNetworks’ 
implementation of these suggested improvements. 

3.2.2.3 Hydro Tasmania's Enhancements Compliance Plan 2015-16 

Even though the energy market is contestable, Hydro Tasmania remains the dominant generator in 
Tasmania and the capacity of Basslink to facilitate competition from interstate generators depends on 
the ability of retailers to enter into hedge contracts. Hydro Tasmania has purchased the rights to 
interregional settlement residues in return for a facility fee payable to Basslink’s owners. In response to 
concerns about market power, the Tasmanian Government has prohibited Hydro Tasmania from giving 
certain bidding instructions to Basslink. Hydro Tasmania is obliged to sell down the rights to import inter-
regional residues to allow other generators and retailers to hedge transactions with mainland 
generators. 

On 31 July 2005, the Treasurer issued a Notice under section 36 of the ESI Act, detailing the principles 
that Hydro Tasmania must follow in relation to the operation of Basslink. The Notice stated that the 
functions of the Regulator are to monitor and enforce the compliance of Hydro Tasmania with 
section 37 of the ESI Act, which requires Hydro Tasmania to draft a compliance plan, ‘Enhancements 
Compliance Plan’, for approval by the Treasurer that specifies the manner in which Hydro Tasmania will 
comply with the principles contained in the Notice. Hydro Tasmania’s compliance with its 
‘Enhancements Compliance Plan’ is audited by a person approved by the Regulator. 

The then Treasurer issued revised Ministerial Notices to Hydro Tasmania on 8 February 2008 and 
9 May 2008. 

On 20 July 2016, the Regulator approved the Terms of Reference for the Auditor-General to audit Hydro 
Tasmania’s compliance with its 2015-16 Enhancements Compliance Plan. The Auditor-General’s report 
concluded that Hydro Tasmania had complied with its compliance plan for the operating period ending 
30 June 2016. 
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 Tasmanian Electricity Code 

The Regulator administers the TEC, which includes a statement of the relevant technical standards of 
the electricity supply industry, an access regime to facilitate new entry, guidance on price setting 
methodologies, a means of resolving disputes that may arise, and establishes advisory committees to 
assist the Regulator. There has been on-going development and refinement of the TEC to ensure that it 
best meets the needs of the ESI and customers.  

3.3.1 Amendments to Chapter 8 of the TEC 

In February 2017, the Regulator consulted with WorkSafe Tasmania and the Department of State 

Growth on proposed amendments to TEC Chapter 8 (Distribution System Operation) concerning voltage 

performance standards, after receiving a code change proposal from TasNetworks in December 2016. 

In April 2017, the Regulator subsequently made the amendments to Chapter 8 to align with the National 
Electricity Rules (NER). 

3.3.2 Amendments to the Preamble, Chapter 2 and Glossary of the TEC 

In April 2017, an administrative change was made to the TEC Chapter 2 (Licensees and Fees) which 
related to the notification to licensees of the payment of licence fees, effective 1 July 2017. Also, 
references to the Electricity Supply Industry (Pricing and Related Matters) Regulations 2013 were 
corrected. Consequential amendments were made to the Preamble and Glossary. 

 ESI performance monitoring 

In order to meet the objectives set out in the ESI Act, the Regulator monitors activity in the ESI. In 
accordance with clause 12.8.2 of the TEC, all entities licensed under the ESI Act are required to report 
to the Regulator on their performance for the most recently completed financial year by 30 September 
each year. The Regulator also uses its general information gathering powers under section 15 of the ESI 
Act to require retailers to report on their performance. The Regulator’s Electricity Supply Industry 
Performance and Information Reporting Guideline provides guidance to licence holders on the 
requirements for quarterly and annual performance reporting.  

From information gathered through monitoring activities, the Regulator prepares various reports (as 
detailed below), which are available for viewing on the Regulator’s website. 

3.4.1 Tasmanian Market Watch  

The Regulator has published a weekly electricity market bulletin, ‘Tasmanian Market Watch’ (Market 
Watch) since July 2011. Market Watch provides information on the operation of the NEM in Tasmania, 
as well as other factors affecting the Tasmanian electricity market. 

Since 1 January 2014, the Regulator has been responsible for regulating and monitoring 
Hydro Tasmania’s wholesale contract activities. Information on Hydro Tasmania’s weekly wholesale 
electricity contract prices was added to Market Watch in August 2014. 

Market Watch editions, a supplementary user guide, and glossary are available on the Regulator’s 
website.  
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3.4.2 Energy in Tasmania Report 2015-16 

Section 10A of the ESI Act allows the Regulator to prepare a state of the Tasmanian electricity supply 
industry report. The Regulator published its Energy in Tasmania 2015-16 (EiT) report which provided a 
performance summary for the Tasmanian ESI and gas supply industry in December 2016. The EiT report 
uses information from electricity and gas entities’ performance reporting, which aims to make the 
entities publicly accountable for their performance and for the standard of the services they provide.  

3.4.3 Comparison of Australian Standing Offer Energy Prices Report  

Section 10C of the ESI Act allows the Regulator to prepare Comparison of Australian Standing Offer 
Energy Prices reports, which compare Tasmanian residential electricity and gas prices with prices in 
other Australian jurisdictions. The reports also compares small business customer electricity and 
reticulated gas prices. The Regulator published comparison reports in August 2016 and February 2017.  

3.4.4 Aurora Pay As You Go Price Comparison Report 

Section 10C of the ESI Act requires the Regulator to prepare a prepayment price comparison report. In 
addition to its regulated prices, Aurora Energy also has an Aurora Pay As You Go (APAYG) product for 
residential customers, which offers prepaid Time-of-Use pricing. The Regulator does not regulate the 
APAYG product, but monitors and reports on price movements. The Regulator published its Prepayment 
Price Comparison Report in August 2016. 

3.4.5 Network Reliability Review 

The ESI Act requires the Regulator to conduct periodic reviews into the reliability of electricity network 
services in Tasmania. 

In November 2015, the Regulator released Terms of Reference for its 2016 Network Reliability Review. 
The Review commenced in late 2015 but its completion was deferred due to the Basslink outage that 
occurred in December 2015.  

The Regulator released a Draft Report on 7 September 2016 for public consultation but no written 
submissions were received. The Regulator released its Final Report on 27 October 2016. 

The Final Report provides a high-level review of the performance of the electricity supply industry in 
terms of the reliability of the integrated Tasmanian power system. It identifies and analyses the issues 
that are likely to influence the future reliability of the power system in the medium term. The Final 
Report addresses a number of issues, including: 

 the performance and robustness of the Tasmanian electricity network including Basslink;  

 issues around the management of potential further large scale renewable generation in the State; 

and  

 risks and opportunities for the network arising from emerging technologies such as embedded solar 

generation, battery storage and electric vehicles. 

http://www.economicregulator.tas.gov.au/domino/otter.nsf/LookupFiles/152772_20151014_2015_Network_Reliability_Review_Terms_of_Reference.PDF/$file/152772_20151014_2015_Network_Reliability_Review_Terms_of_Reference.PDF
http://www.economicregulator.tas.gov.au/domino/otter.nsf/LookupFiles/2016_Network_Reliability_Review_Draft_Report%20-%20Final%20Version%20PDF.PDF/$file/2016_Network_Reliability_Review_Draft_Report%20-%20Final%20Version%20PDF.PDF
http://www.economicregulator.tas.gov.au/domino/otter.nsf/LookupFiles/2016_Network_Reliability_Review_-_Final_Report_PDF.PDF/$file/2016_Network_Reliability_Review_-_Final_Report_PDF.PDF
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3.4.6 Typical Electricity Customers 2017 

Since 2006, the Regulator has used Typical Customer usage information to assess standing offer prices 
and to compare Tasmanian and interstate electricity prices. 

Since the release of the Regulator’s Typical Electricity Customers Information Paper in May 2014, there 
had been numerous changes in the Tasmanian electricity industry. Using information provided by 
Aurora Energy, the Regulator released Typical Electricity Customers 2017 in April 2017. The Regulator 
used the information from that report to assess standing offer retail prices for 2017-18.  

3.4.7 Incident Reporting 

Incidents that occur in the electricity supply industry may impact on the level of reliability, security and 
quality of electricity supplied to electricity consumers, and can identify vulnerable areas in the electricity 
supply chain. Significant incidents or recurring smaller incidents may highlight, among other things, poor 
maintenance procedures, inadequate services and facilities or inadequate processes and procedures.  

The Regulator considers it important that electricity entities adequately respond to incidents and has 
an Incident Reporting Guideline for the ESI, which requires the relative electricity entity to investigate 
incidents that meet set criteria and provide a report. The reports outline the nature of the incident, the 
impact of the incident, and the steps the entity has undertaken or will undertake to eliminate or control 
the underlying cause of the incident. The Regulator publishes summaries of significant incidents on its 
website.  

The Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO) also investigates some incidents and publishes reports 
on its website. During 2016-17, two incidents were ‘significant incidents’ and both were investigated by 
AEMO with reports available on AEMO’s website. 

 Wholesale Pricing Contract Regulation 

The Regulator has been responsible for administering the electricity wholesale contracting regulatory 
framework since 1 January 2014. This involves regulating certain financial contracting Hydro Tasmania 
undertakes with electricity retailers in the Tasmanian market. 

The regulatory framework is designed to support the introduction of competition to the Tasmanian 
retail electricity market by creating an environment whereby a retailer operating in Tasmania faces the 
same risks with respect to electricity purchases as a retailer operating in another NEM jurisdiction. The 
Regulator monitors Hydro Tasmania’s activities in wholesale contracting on an ongoing basis.  

In early July 2016, the Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator (OTTER) identified that Hydro 
Tasmania had published incorrect regulated wholesale contract prices. 

Hydro Tasmania was timely in its rectification of the issue and published correct prices within two hours 
of the inaccuracy being identified. In addition, and in order to minimise the impact, Hydro Tasmania 
notified retailers of the fact that the regulated prices had been republished due to error. 

Hydro Tasmania subsequently provided OTTER with sufficient details of the error, including 
confirmation that no external parties were impacted, and outlined the steps that it had subsequently 
put in place to prevent a recurrence.  

The information provided, and action undertaken, by Hydro Tasmania was considered satisfactory and 
no formal compliance enforcement action by the Regulator was required. Rather, the breach was noted 
and ongoing monitoring, for any recurrence of this issue, will continue. 
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3.5.1 2016 Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument Review 

Regulation 21 of the Electricity Supply Industry (Pricing and Related Matters) Regulations 2013 requires 
the Regulator to conduct a pricing investigation prior to making or revoking an approval. Further, the 
pricing investigation must be conducted prior to the expiry of the existing approval made by the Minister 
under Regulation 20(1) of the Electricity Supply Industry (Pricing and Related Matters) Regulations. The 
Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument (Instrument) was intended to be in effect for the period 1 
January 2014 to 31 December 2018. 

In response to concerns raised by market participants about the potential impact on their respective 
forward contracting activities in the event that the approvals were made closer to the expiry date of the 
initial Instrument, the Regulator decided to provide market participants with as much certainty as 
possible by conducting an investigation in 2016. Under this decision, the Regulator would make the 
necessary approvals well before the Instrument’s expiry date. The Regulator released its Draft Report 
on the Review of the Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument on 19 August 2016 and sought 
submissions on the Draft Report. On 21 October 2016, the Regulator released, for public consultation, 
drafts of the Instrument, Electricity Wholesale Contract Guideline (EWC Guideline), and Statement of 
Regulatory Intent. The Regulator also prepared a Consultation Paper to assist interested parties in 
making submissions.  

The Regulator took into account all submissions in preparing its Final Report - Review of the Electricity 
Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument, which was published on 21 December 2016 together with 
the final versions of the Instrument, EWC Guideline, and Statement of Regulatory Intent. 

The EWC Guideline required Hydro Tasmania to change the Wholesale Pricing Model (the Model) to 
reflect the Instrument. The Model is an Excel spreadsheet that calculates the weekly regulated contracts 
prices in accordance with the Instrument. The EWC Guideline also required Hydro Tasmania to provide 
an audit report confirming that the updated Model complies with the requirements of the Instrument. 

On 13 January 2017, the Regulator approved the terms of reference for the audit and Hydro Tasmania’s 
nomination of KPMG to audit the Model.  

On 9 February 2017, Hydro Tasmania advised that KPMG had identified an inconsistency between the 
Model and the new Instrument for calculating the Tasmanian cap price. 

Hydro Tasmania subsequently advised that it considered that the Model was operating correctly and 
that there was an error in the Instrument. Hydro Tasmania forwarded KPMG’s draft audit report to 
OTTER on 17 February 2017. OTTER reviewed the Instrument and Model and concurred with Hydro 
Tasmania’s finding that the error was in the Instrument. 

Following consultation with market participants the Regulator approved an additional pricing 
investigation to address the identified error in the Instrument. 

3.5.2 2017 Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument Pricing Investigation 

To correct the error identified in the Instrument, the Regulator announced on 2 March 2017 that it 
would conduct a pricing investigation to revoke the Instrument made in December 2016 and make a 
new Instrument. The Regulator released a consultation paper in March 2017 inviting interested parties 
to make a submission.  

After taking into consideration submissions received, the Regulator released its Final Investigation 
Report and published a new Instrument, which took effect on 24 March  2017 and will expire on 
30 June 2024. 
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 Approval of electricity prices 

The Regulator is required to approve various Tasmanian electricity prices. During 2016-17, the Regulator 

made the following price approvals. 

3.6.1 Amended 2016-17 standing offer retail prices  

On 28 June 2016, Aurora Energy advised the Regulator that it had identified an error in its Standing 
Offer Price Schedule for 2016-17 concerning the days of the week listed for Time of Use period for ‘Peak’ 
pricing under Tariff 94. Specifically, the original Schedule showed the period for Peak to be ‘Mon-Sun’ 
when it should have been ‘Mon-Fri’. Aurora Energy therefore sought the Regulator’s approval to amend 
the Schedule to correct the error. 

The Regulator subsequently approved changing the standing offer price (Tariff 94) to show the period 
for Peak to be ‘Mon-Fri’ and required Aurora Energy to publish details of the error in the three major 
Tasmanian newspapers. 

3.6.2 2017-18 standing offer retail prices  

The Aurora Energy Pty Ltd 2016 Standing Offer Price Determination (the Determination) requires Aurora 
Energy to submit draft standing offer prices for the Regulator’s approval in accordance with the ESI Act 
and the annual standing offer price approval process. The process is outlined in the Guideline: Standing 
offer price approval process in accordance with the 2016 Standing Offer Determination (April 2016) (the 
Price Approval Guideline).   

On 2 June 2017, the Electricity Supply Industry Amendment (Pricing) Bill 2017 received Royal Assent, 
which nullified both the requirement that standing offer prices satisfy the requirements specified in 
Aurora Energy’s Standing Offer Price Strategy and the Price Approval Guideline. 

On 13 June 2017, the Treasurer advised the Regulator that he had made a WEP Order and issued a 
Ministerial Notice setting out the criteria the Regulator was to take into account when approving 
standing offer prices for 2017-18. On 19 June 2017, Aurora Energy submitted its final Standing Offer 
Pricing Proposal for 2017-18. 

The Regulator reviewed the Standing Offer Pricing Proposal and verified that the proposed standing 
offer prices complied with the requirements set out in the Determination, Price Approval Guideline, 
WEP Order, and the Ministerial Notice. Consequently, on 22 June 2017 the Regulator approved Aurora 
Energy’s standing offer prices for 2017-18. 

The approved prices resulted in a two per cent increase in the annual bill for a Typical Customer with 
medium usage on both Tariff 31 and Tariff 41. For business customers on Tariff 22, the daily charges 
were unchanged from 2016-17 while usage charges were lower. 

3.6.3 Approval of 2017-18 regulated feed-in tariff 

In June 2016, the Regulator determined and published the Feed-in Tariff (FiT) rate to apply for 2017-18. 
The FiT rate for 2017-18 of 8.929 c/kWh represents a 34 per cent increase over the rate of 6.671 c/kWh, 
which applied for 2016-17. The increase is due to movements in the WEP, which has a major impact on 
the calculation of the regulated FiT rate as outlined in the formula set out in the Regulator’s 2016 
Regulated Feed-in Tariff Determination for Standard Feed-in Tariff Customers. 
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3.6.4 Approval of 2017-18 Bass Strait Island tariff schedule  

Electricity on the BSI is supplied under a Community Service Obligation (CSO) contract between Hydro 
Tasmania and the Tasmanian Government. Under the ESI Act, Hydro Tasmania is required to submit, for 
the Regulator’s approval, a draft of any proposed amendments to the BSI tariff schedule. In providing 
its approval, the Regulator relies on advice from Treasury that the proposed tariffs are not inconsistent 
with the CSO and the Government’s policy intent in relation to BSI pricing. 

In May 2017, Hydro Tasmania sought the Regulator’s approval for its proposed amended draft Tariff, 
Lighting prices and Service Fees for 2017-18. On 2 June 2017, based on advice received from Treasury, 
the Regulator approved the draft Tariff, Public Lighting prices, and Service Fees to apply from 
1 July 2017. For 2017-18, the BSI tariff increased by 1.5 per cent compared to 2016-17, reflecting growth 
in the CPI between the December 2015 quarter and December 2016 quarter as required under the CSO 
Agreement. 

 Electricity retail contestability 

Since 1 July 2014, any electricity retailer has been able to enter the Tasmanian market. However, while 
there are some retailers, apart from Aurora Energy, offering contracts for business customers, there are 
currently no other retailers offering market contracts for residential customers in Tasmania. Aurora 
Energy does offer market contracts to residential customers in the form of Aurora Pay As You Go 
products. The Regulator’s ‘Power to Choose’ website provides information on retail competition for 
customers.  

 The cost of electricity regulation  

The following table shows the Regulator’s costs associated with electricity regulation during 2016-17 
and the previous two financial years.  

Cost of electricity regulation ($’000) 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

575 969 872 

These figures are based on the information included in the Financial Information section of this report 
and may vary from amounts included in previous annual reports. 
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4  GAS REGULATION 

Powerco Tasmania Pty Ltd (now Tas Gas Networks Pty Ltd) completed the initial roll out of natural gas 
distribution infrastructure in Tasmania in 2007 enabling the retail of natural gas to 42 000 households 
and small commercial customers. 

The gas retail market is supported by distribution use-of-system agreements developed by 
Tas Gas Networks Pty Ltd (Tas Gas Networks), which larger customers and retailers can reference in 
their negotiations. It is also supported by ring-fencing of distribution information and operations such 
that retailers have confidence that their commercial information is protected from disclosure, and that 
any related entity of Tas Gas Networks (distributor) is not placed in an advantageous position either by 
way of information, costs, or service preference. 

Given the natural monopoly inherent in gas transmission assets, the likelihood of competition in the gas 
transmission market is small. However, there is potential for other operators to construct and operate 
sections of transmission pipeline that connect to the Tasmania Gas Pipeline owned and operated by 
Tasmanian Gas Pipeline Pty Ltd (TGP).  

The Gas Pipelines Act, Gas Act and four associated codes establish the procedural and institutional 
arrangements for what has been a fully contestable gas market since its commencement.  

The Gas Distribution Code and Gas Retail Code set out the minimum standards for operating a 
distribution system, and the terms and conditions under which distribution services are provided, and 
gas retailed, to customers. The Gas Bulk Customer Transfer Code provides the regulatory framework for 
transferring customers in bulk between gas retailers. 

The Gas Customer Transfer and Reconciliation Code (Transfer Code) establishes the rules and 
procedures for metering and reconciliation of gas quantities between retailers at receipt points and the 
transfer of customers between retailers. The Transfer Code also establishes a metering data provider 
scheme and the certification of an allocation agent.  

Section 8 of the Gas Act defines the Regulator’s functions, which exclude price regulation for the 
Tasmanian gas supply industry, but include:  

 the administration of the licensing system for gas entities; and 

 the establishment, monitoring and publication of standards and codes in respect of services 

provided by gas entities. 

The Regulator’s key objectives include: 

 facilitating the development of a gas supply industry in Tasmania; 

 promoting efficiency and competition in the gas supply industry;  

 monitoring the performance of the gas supply industry; and 

 protecting the interests of consumers of gas. 
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 Gas Licensing 

The Regulator is responsible for administering the licensing system for gas entities according to the Gas 

Pipelines Act and Gas Act. The Gas Pipelines Act provides for the Regulator to issue licences for 

operations in the gas transmission industry, including the construction and operation of pipelines and 

treatment, storage and refining facilities. The Gas Act provides for the Regulator to issue licences for 

operations in the gas distribution and retail industry.  

Gas legislation outlines the matters that the Regulator may consider in deciding whether to grant a gas 
licence. The Regulator’s jurisdiction does not include local government, planning or environmental 
issues. The Regulator has the authority to consider and determine gas licence applications, and can 
refuse or issue gas licences. Under Gas legislation, the Regulator must make a determination within 60 
days of receiving an application. 

4.1.1 Licences 

As at 30 June 2017, the following entities held the following gas licences: 

 BOC Limited - a pipeline licence to operate the Westbury pipeline facility to process natural gas; 

 TGP Pty Ltd - a pipeline licence for the operation of the Tasmanian Gas Pipeline and a construction 

licence for the upgrade of the Bell Bay Meter Station and to install a main line valve bypass at Port 

Latta;  

 Tas Gas Networks - pipeline licences for the operation and construction of a natural gas pipeline, 

off-take station, and meter station in Ulverstone, which supplies the Simplot plant in that area; 

 Tas Gas Networks - licences to construct and operate the gas distribution system in Tasmania;  

 Aurora Energy - retailers licence; 

 Tas Gas Retail Pty Ltd (Tas Gas Retail) - retailers licence; and 

 Origin Energy Retail Pty Ltd - retailers licence (for retailing liquid petroleum gas in an isolated 

network). 

4.1.1.1 Licence amendments, surrenders and renewals 

On 12 September 2016, the Regulator amended the distribution (operations) licence held by Origin 
Energy Tasmania Pty Ltd to remove the distribution system at Sunhaven Villas, St Helens.  

During 2016-17, there were no new gas retail, distribution or transmission licences issued, and no gas 
licences surrendered or renewed. 
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4.1.1.2 Allocation Agent Certification 

The Transfer Code provides for the Regulator to certify an Allocation Agent. In the absence of daily and 

monthly metered quantities of gas for all customers, the Allocation Agent estimates and allocates gas 

quantities to retailers at a receipt point, on a daily and monthly basis. When the customer's gas meters 

are read, which may be months after the estimate, the Allocation Agent adjusts the amounts previously 

estimated as required. This allocation and the monthly/yearly reconciliations will determine each 

retailer’s liability for distribution and transmission charges. 

The Regulator has certified Tas Gas Networks Pty Ltd to be the Allocation Agent in Tasmania. The 
certification is valid for three years, effective from 22 June 2015.  

4.1.2 Independent Appraisals 

The Regulator regularly seeks assurance that entities’ management plans and compliance plans are 
adequate, and that entities are complying with relevant plans, by engaging suitably qualified 
independent appraisers to review those plans. The appraisers evaluate and report on the risks of 
non-compliance by examining the relevant entity’s processes, policies and procedures; and reviewing 
management plans, compliance plans, and performance outcomes. 

The Regulator is not required to approve the appraisal reports it receives. Rather, the Regulator 
considers the reports, raises any particular areas of concern with the relevant entity, and then monitors 
the implementation of any recommended changes to the entity’s practices. During 2016-17, two 
independent appraisals relating to licenced gas entities were completed. 

4.1.2.1 Tas Gas Retail’s compliance plan 

In accordance with the Gas Act, licenced gas retailers are to submit to the Regulator an annual return, 
which must include the information described in Schedule 2 of the Gas Retail Code. The annual return 
is to be accompanied by a report by an independent appraiser in accordance with the ‘frequency of 
reporting’ provisions of the Regulator’s Regulatory Reporting Guideline (Reporting Guideline). 

According to the Reporting Guideline, the Regulator is to approve the independent appraiser before the 
appraisal commences. However, Tas Gas Retail appointed Nine Lives Systems (Nine Lives), without the 
Regulator’s approval, for its compliance plan review that commenced on 6 March 2017. This constituted 
a breach of Tas Gas Retail’s licence conditions and obligations under the Reporting Guideline.  

In May 2017, the Regulator retrospectively approved Tas Gas Retail’s engagement and Nine Lives 
submitted its report. The Regulator reminded Tas Gas Retail of the reporter approval process and 
requested that Tas Gas Retail introduce appropriate internal processes to prevent such an oversight 
from recurring. The Regulator took no other compliance enforcement action.  

Nine Lives also reported that the compliance plan ensures Tas Gas Retail can meet its compliance 
regulatory obligations. Nine Lives found that, in general, Tas Gas Retail’s compliance plan satisfies the 
requirements of the current Australian Standard AS ISO 19600-2015 Compliance Management Systems 
- Guidelines, but made a series of recommendations on minor matters for Tas Gas Retail’s consideration. 
The Regulator will monitor Tas Gas Retail’s implementation of these suggested improvements. 
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4.1.2.2 Aurora Energy’s gas retail operations compliance plan 

In October 2016, the Regulator approved Aurora Energy’s engagement of Ascension Consulting 
(Ascension) for the independent appraisal of Aurora Energy’s gas retail operations compliance plan. 
Ascension submitted its report to the Regulator on 18 December 2016. 

Ascension reported that Aurora Energy has implemented a comprehensive gas retail compliance plan 
and program across its gas retail operations. Ascension concluded that Aurora Energy’s gas retail 
compliance plan adequately supports the management of gas retailing compliance, and that there is a 
strong compliance culture evident across Aurora Energy. As part of its review, Ascension made a series 
of recommendations for improvement for Aurora Energy’s consideration. Aurora Energy did not accept 
all of Ascension’s recommendations, but provided the Regulator with sound justifications for its 
decision. The Regulator will monitor Aurora Energy’s implementation of the accepted improvements. 

 Performance Monitoring and Reporting 

Regulated gas entities are required under the Gas Act, the Gas Pipelines Act and/or their respective 
licence to lodge an annual return with the Regulator. The annual return comprises both industry data 
and performance information.  

Performance information from the 2015-16 annual returns was subsequently included in the 
Regulator’s Energy in Tasmania 2015-16 report.  

While Tasmanian gas prices are unregulated, the Regulator monitors Tas Gas Retail’s and Aurora 
Energy’s gas prices. The Regulator includes a retail gas price comparison in the Comparison of Australian 
Standing Offer Energy Prices reports.  

 Cost of Gas Regulation 

The following table shows the Regulator’s costs associated with gas regulation during 2016-17 and the 
previous two financial years.  

Cost of gas regulation ($’000) 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

182 24 108 

These figures are based on the information included in the Financial Information section of this report 
and may vary from amounts included in previous annual reports. 
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5  WATER AND SEWERAGE 

REGULATION 

In 2008, major reform of the Tasmanian water and sewerage industry was implemented through two 
pieces of legislation: 

 the Water and Sewerage Corporations Act 2008 (Water and Sewerage Corporations Act) which 
addressed the structural elements of the reforms; and 

 the W&SI Act which covers the regulatory elements. 

At that time, water and sewerage services were delivered by 28 local councils and three council-owned 
bulk water authorities. Under the Water and Sewerage Corporations Act, from 1 July 2009, three council 
owned regional corporations commenced the delivery of water and sewerage services. 

In May 2012, the owner Councils of the three regional water and sewerage corporations agreed to 
amalgamate those entities into a single corporation. The Water and Sewerage Corporation Act 2012 
was subsequently passed to enable a single corporation, the Tasmanian Water and Sewerage 
Corporation Pty Ltd (TasWater), to commence operations on 1 July 2013. 

The operation of the Tasmanian water and sewerage sector is overseen by several industry regulators 
including the Environment Protection Authority, Director of Public Health and the Delegate for Dam 
Safety Regulation. 

The Regulator has responsibilities under the W&SI Act, which provides the framework for the economic 
regulation of the water and sewerage sector, including: 

 determining maximum prices for regulated water and sewerage services; 

 promoting efficiency in terms of costs and pricing arrangements; 

 issuing and administering licences for water and sewerage service providers; 

 establishing and administering minimum customer service standards through the development of 

the Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Customer Service Code (Customer Service Code); 

 monitoring and enforcing compliance of water and sewerage entities with licence conditions; and 

 monitoring the performance of the industry. 

The regulatory framework does not cover water used for irrigation or electricity generation purposes, 
nor does it cover private water supplies (such as private bores and tanks) and small private sewage 
treatment plants or services relating to the provision of re-use water, recycled water or stormwater.  

 Licences 

During 2016-17, TasWater held the only water and sewerage licence in Tasmania. 

http://www.taswater.com.au/
http://www.taswater.com.au/
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5.1.1 Independent appraisals 

The Regulator seeks regular assurance that TasWater’s compliance and management plans are 
adequate, and that it is complying with relevant plans, by engaging suitably qualified independent 
appraisers to review those plans. The appraisers evaluate and report on the risks of non-compliance by 
examining TasWater’s processes, policies and procedures; and reviewing management plans, 
compliance plans, and performance outcomes. There was one independent appraisal related to 
TasWater during 2016-17.  

5.1.1.1 Appraisal of TasWater’s performance data 

For TasWater’s performance data to be eligible for reporting under the national performance reporting 
framework it must be subject to an audit at least once every three years in accordance with the Urban 
National Performance Framework – Urban Auditing Requirements. Not all of TasWater’s performance 
indicators have met the auditing requirements to date. This has meant that the number of indicators 
reported for Tasmania in past editions of the annual National Performance Report for Urban Utilities 
has been incomplete. 

To spread the workload of satisfying the national performance indicator audit requirements, the 
Regulator and TasWater have elected to audit roughly one third of TasWater’s performance indicators 
every year, rather than auditing the entire list of indicators once every three years. As a result of this 
scheduling, the Regulator received the final report relating to an audit of one of the three tranches of 
TasWater’s performance indicators during the 2016-17 year. 

In November 2016, TasWater engaged Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu (Deloitte) to audit the first tranche of 
TasWater’s performance indicators. Deloitte submitted its report to the Regulator on 24 February 2017. 

Deloitte found that, for the most part, TasWater’s performance indicator information was presented 
fairly, and within the reliability and accuracy thresholds specified in the National Performance 
Framework. However, Deloitte identified several exceptions to its overall conclusion. When reviewing 
the information provided at the beginning of the audit process, Deloitte found that TasWater’s reporting 
against a number of performance indicators was based on figures that did not match the source data. 

Deloitte also identified several of TasWater’s performance indicators as not presenting fairly or not 
being based on reliable information, meaning they were not of publishable quality. Deloitte was also 
unable to verify the data used to derive some of TasWater’s reported performance indicators. 

Deloitte provided a number of recommendations in its final report to help TasWater improve the 
reliability and accuracy of its performance indicator reporting. The Regulator will monitor TasWater’s 
implementation of these improvements. 
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 State of the Water and Sewerage Industry  

Section 70 of the W&SI Act details the requirements for the Regulator to prepare a report on the state 
of the water and sewerage industry (the State of the Industry Report).  

To assist in the preparation of the State of the Industry Report the Regulator issued the Tasmanian 
Water and Sewerage Industry Performance and Information Reporting Guideline (W&S Reporting 
Guideline) in 2010. The W&S Reporting Guideline provides for the collection, analysis and reporting of 
performance information by a regulated entity. It reflects the performance standards and conditions 
set out in Customer Service Code and in accordance with the Water and Sewerage Industry (Customer 
Service Standards) Regulations 2009 or as notified by the Regulator to the regulated entity.  

5.2.1 State of the Industry Report 2015-16 

On 27 March 2017, the Regulator released the Tasmanian Water and Sewerage State of the Industry 
Report 2015-16, which provides an overview of the performance of Tasmania’s water and sewerage 
industry and identifies key priorities for improving performance. The objective of the Report is to assess 
TasWater’s performance as a service provider. It addresses the key areas of affordability, customer 
service, network reliability and efficiency, drinking water quality and environmental performance for 
the water and sewerage industry. 

The Report highlighted some significant performance improvements and significant challenges for 
TasWater. A copy of the Tasmanian Water and Sewerage State of the Industry Report 2015-16 is 
available for viewing on the Regulator’s website. 

 National Performance Reporting 

Tasmania has a range of objectives and commitments under the National Water Initiative (NWI) 
Agreement to ensure the ongoing efficient management of the State’s water resources. In addition to 
preparing the State of the Industry Report, the Regulator has a role under the National Performance 
Reporting Framework to coordinate the collection of annual performance information for Tasmania 
required for national urban water performance reporting.  

The reporting of performance data on the pricing and service quality of licensed providers of water and 
sewerage services is a key element of Tasmania’s NWI implementation program. Data is incorporated 
into the urban national performance reports produced annually by the Bureau of Meteorology.  

In late March 2017, the Bureau of Meteorology published new information reporting requirements for 
urban water to simplify the data collection and reporting process, and to align water resources 
indicators with the Commonwealth’s Water Regulations 2008 as the information requirements had 
been amended. The changes are reflected in a new reporting handbook to commence in the 2017-18 
reporting year. 

5.3.1 National performance report 2015-16 

In October 2016, the Regulator submitted TasWater’s 2015-16 performance data for inclusion in the 
Bureau of Meteorology’s National performance report 2015-16: urban water utilities, which was 
prepared in conjunction with all states and territories, and the Water Services Association of Australia.  
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 Amendments to W&S Reporting Guideline 

The Regulator’s W&S Reporting Guideline specifies reporting requirements for the State of the Industry 
Report and for the provision of National Performance Report (NPR) information. In November 2016, the 
Regulator amended the W&S Reporting Guideline to reflect amendments to the minimum service 
standards in the Customer Service Code (consequential to the 2015 Price Determination Investigation) 
and to remove duplication of NPR measures as listed in the national performance framework handbook.  

The Regulator made a further administrative revision to the W&S Reporting Guideline with the removal 
of a redundant definition from the 'Glossary'. Version 1.4 of the Performance Reporting Guideline took 
effect on the 23 November 2016. 

 Status of TasWater’s compliance with the W&S Reporting 

Guideline 

The W&S Reporting Guideline requires TasWater to report on progress in meeting the minimum service 
standards specified in Schedule 1 of the Customer Service Code.  

Two of the standards specified in Schedule 1 of the Customer Service Code relate to repeat service 
supply interruptions. Specifically as follows: 

 number of customers receiving more than 5 unplanned water supply interruptions in a financial 

year (number); and 

 customer receiving more than 3 sewerage service interruptions per year. 

During 2016, a Working Group was established, with representatives from OTTER and TasWater, to 
develop a framework for minimum service standards for application from 1 July 2018 (to coincide with 
the commencement of the third regulatory period discussed in the Price Regulation section of this 
report). 

During a meeting of that Working Group, TasWater representatives advised OTTER that performance 
about the repeat service interruption measures had not been provided to the Regulator as part of 
TasWater’s annual performance reports. TasWater further advised that due to asset data quality, 
accuracy and completeness, as well as an absence of specific systems and processes, it would continue 
to be unable to report to the Regulator on repeat service interruptions. 

In this way, TasWater had breached W&S Reporting Guideline obligations and its licence conditions 
(which state TasWater must comply with all applicable guidelines). 

TasWater explained that significant investment would be required to record and report repeat 
interruptions for both water and sewerage services. Working Group members subsequently established 
that a pilot program would be required to understand and confirm the full implementation costs and 
associated benefits of the investment.  

In December 2016, TasWater provided formal advice to the Regulator that it would pilot the measuring 
of repeat service interruptions in the third regulatory period. Following the pilot program, the Regulator 
will decide whether to adopt the performance measures. 

In light of the pilot plans, and assessment of TasWater’s reporting breach against the relevant evaluation 
criteria outlined in the Regulator’s Compliance Enforcement Policy, the Regulator agreed not to pursue 
any formal compliance enforcement action against TasWater at that time. That decision of the Regulator 
was, however, conditional upon TasWater fulfilling its pilot obligations as assured. 
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 Call centre performance reporting  

The Regulator has monitored the performance of TasWater’s call centre operations on a quarterly basis 
since June 2012 when stakeholders raised concerns about the performance of the previous regulated 
entities’ call centres. 

Call centre performance is measured in terms of response time (percentage of calls answered by an 
operator within 30 seconds) and takes account of abandoned calls (calls that are abandoned before 30 
seconds). 

In August 2016, the Regulator ceased its quarterly monitoring of TasWater’s call centre performance, 
as it was satisfied that TasWater had adequately addressed all previous concerns. The Regulator noted 
at the time that the call centre’s response times had consistently met the customer service standard 
over the preceding few years. The Regulator continues, however, to monitor call centre performance 
on an annual basis. 

 Price Regulation 

Since 1 July 2012, the Regulator has been responsible for setting maximum prices for regulated water 
and sewerage services. The Regulator has made two price determinations. The first price determination 
set prices from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015. The current second price determination set prices from 
1 July 2015 to 30 June 2018.  

The W&SI Act requires the Regulator to fix the duration regulatory periods and publish details of the 
third regulatory period. On 22 June 2016, the Regulator declared in the Tasmanian Government Gazette 
that the third regulatory period will cover the three year period from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2021.  

The W&SI Act also requires the Regulator to notify TasWater, the Treasurer and the public of its 
intention to conduct a price determination investigation and to make a price determination. The 
Regulator notified the Treasurer and TasWater on 22 June 2017, and the public on 3 July 2017, of its 
intention to conduct a price determination investigation and make a price determination through 
advertisements in the three regional Tasmanian newspapers. 

To assist with its investigation, the Regulator also released a Request for Quotation seeking proposals 
from suitably qualified consultants to review TasWater’s operating expenditure and capital expenditure. 
Submissions closed on 28 April 2017 and, on 2 June 2017, following an evaluation process, the Regulator 
engaged ARUP Group to carry out this consultancy. 

On 30 June 2017, TasWater submitted its proposed Price and Service Plan 3 as required under the 
Regulator’s Water and Sewerage Price and Service Plan Guideline. 
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5.7.1 TasWater’s Regulatory Accounts 

The primary purpose of regulatory accounts to assist the Regulator in determining the prices as part of 
price determination investigations. The regulatory accounts should enable the Regulator to compare 
actual against forecast regulatory expenditures and revenues and assess the TasWater’s charges, and 
to ensure TasWater is compliant with its regulatory obligations. TasWater was required to prepare its 
2015-16 regulatory accounts in accordance with the Regulator’s Water and Sewerage Accounting Ring 
Fencing Guideline (Version 2). 

On 30 September 2017, TasWater provided its 2015-16 regulatory accounts to the Regulator, which 
were audited by the Tasmanian Audit Office. The Tasmanian Audit Office identified various issues to be 
resolved either in the preparation of 2016-17 regulatory accounts or during the 2018 Water and 
Sewerage Price Determination Investigation. Noting the issues to be resolved, the Regulator approved 
TasWater’s 2015-16 regulatory accounts in May 2017. 

 Cost of Water and Sewerage Regulation 

The following table shows the Regulator’s costs associated with water and sewerage regulation during 
2016-17 and the previous two financial years.  

Cost of Water and Sewerage regulation ($’000) 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 

1 096 549 438 

These figures are based on the information included in the Financial Information section of this report 
and may vary from amounts included in previous annual reports. 
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6  ABOUT THE REGULATOR 

Mr Joe Dimasi is the Regulator. He has been the Regulator since 9 November 2015 and is the Senior 
Commissioner for the Australian Capital Territory’s Independent Competition and Regulatory 
Commission and a Professorial Fellow at the Monash Business School. 

 Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator 

Treasury provides staff to assist the Regulator in fulfilling its statutory functions. The Office of the 
Tasmanian Economic Regulator (OTTER) has two functional units supported by an administrative unit. 
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6.1.1 Treasury services 

Treasury provides OTTER staff and major corporate support services including the management of 
assets. OTTER staff are Treasury employees and, therefore, subject to the Treasury’s human resource 
management policies and procedures. Information about Treasury’s management of assets and human 
resource management policies is included in Treasury’s annual report.  

Treasury provides OTTER with a number of administrative support services including information 
technology, human resources, financial management, and other corporate information support 
services. In June 2013, a Service Level Agreement was entered into between the Regulator and Treasury 
to define the services to be provided by Treasury to OTTER to support the Regulator and the terms and 
conditions under which those services will be provided. The Service Level Agreement is reviewed and 
renewed annually.  

When possible, the Regulator complies with the Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs) for the procurement of 
goods and services, including the reporting requirements under TI1111.  

As part of the Regulator’s Water and Sewerage Price Determination Investigation, in June 2016, the 
Regulator awarded a $146 000 contract to the ARUP Group as the consultant for the review of 
TasWater’s operating expenditure and capital expenditure. ARUP commenced their review in June 2017 
with a final report expected in February 2018.  

6.1.2 Regulator’s costs 

The majority of the Regulator’s costs are covered by licence fees, which, for 2016-17, were determined 
according to the Structure of licence fees for the electricity, gas and water and sewerage sectors - 
applicable 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017. Other costs related to competitive neutrality investigations, 
electricity contestability, customer education and regulating electricity feed-in tariffs are recovered 
from Treasury. The costs of price investigations including the MAIB investigation are recovered directly 
from the relevant entity.  

6.1.2.1 Structure of Licence Fees 

In March 2017, following consultation with gas, electricity and water and sewerage licensees, the 
Regulator published its ‘Structure of licence fees for the electricity, gas and water and sewerage sectors’ 
paper which outlines the methodology for calculating and setting annual licence fees for the three year 
period commencing 1 July 2017. 

In doing so, the Regulator applied principles established under the TEC which include that the structure 
of licence fees be simple; that the components of the licence fees charged to each licensee be reflective 
of the extent to which the Regulator’s budgeted revenue requirements involve that licensee; and that 
the fees not unreasonably discriminate against licensees. 

The application of the structure of licence fees from 1 July 2017 continues to extend to the gas and 
water and sewerage sectors, with the Regulator using the TEC principles to set licence fees for gas 
industry participants and to provide advice to the Minister for Primary Industries and Water on the 
Regulator’s component of the licence fees to be paid by regulated water and sewerage entities. 
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 Key relationships and acknowledgments 

The Regulator has welcomed the input from stakeholders, customers and customer representatives 
through consultation on various matters throughout the year.  

The Regulator continues to work with other Government agencies in Tasmania and regulators in other 
jurisdictions including: 

 Department of Treasury and Finance;  

 Government Business (Energy) Branch, Department of State Growth;  

 Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and Environment; 

 Ombudsman Tasmania; 

 Director of Gas Safety; 

 Environment Protection Authority;  

 Department of Health and Human Services; 

 WorkSafe Tasmania, Department of Justice; 

 Australian Energy Regulator (AER); 

 Australian Energy Market Commission (AEMC); and  

 Australian Energy Market Operator (AEMO). 

6.2.1 Utility Regulators Forum 

The Regulator participates in the Utility Regulators Forum (URF), which was established in 1997 to 
encourage cooperation between Commonwealth, state and territory based regulators. The URF aims to 
facilitate: 

 the exchange of information 

 understanding of the issues faced by regulators 

 consistency in the application of regulatory functions; and 

 the review of new ideas about regulatory practices. 

6.2.2 National Performance Report Roundtable Group (Urban Water) 

The Urban National Performance Report (NPR) Roundtable Group is a working group that oversees the 
collection of performance indicator data relating to urban water utilities and the co-ordination of 
performance reports that are produced annually by the Bureau of Meteorology. 

The Roundtable Group commenced in 2005 and played a key role in establishing the national 
performance reporting framework for urban water utilities, as well as in data collection, collation, 
auditing and reporting processes and timelines. All states and territories are represented on the Group, 
as part of a commitment under the National Water Initiative Agreement to report independently, 
publicly and on an annual basis, on the performance of water utilities. 
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Tasmania is represented on the Group by OTTER and the Department of Primary Industries, Parks, 
Water and Environment. The Regulator is the Data Co-Ordinator for Tasmania and is responsible for 
ensuring that data submitted to the Bureau of Meteorology adheres to strict NPR data quality 
requirements, including that it has been independently audited. 

Members sign an agreement with the Bureau of Meteorology for the production of the Urban NPR.  

6.2.3 Jurisdictional water regulators 

During 2016-17, OTTER continued to participate in interjurisdictional meetings with regulators in other 
states and territories who are responsible for the economic regulation of water and sewerage services. 
The group meets periodically to discuss topical issues. 

The Regulator considers these meetings fulfil a useful role in terms of facilitating the discussion of 
common issues and in sharing examples of best practice with other regulators. The Regulator also 
considers the outcomes of these meetings when deciding how best to regulate the Tasmanian water 
and sewerage sector. 

6.2.4 Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Regulators Forum  

The operation of the Tasmanian water and sewerage sector is overseen by several industry regulators 
including the Environment Protection Authority, the Director of Public Health and the Delegate for Dam 
Safety Regulation. During 2016-17, the Regulator established the Tasmanian Water and Sewerage 
Regulators Forum. The members include the industry regulators and TasWater. The Forum meets on a 
quarterly basis with the first meeting held in December 2016. The objective of the Forum is to discuss 
strategic or priority issues associated with water and sewerage regulation in the context of the 
preparation for, and conduct of, price determination investigations and on an ongoing basis.  

The Regulator also consults directly with industry regulators when proposing amendments to water and 
sewerage regulatory arrangements and where required by legislation. 

6.2.5 OTTER Customer Consultative Committee 

The OTTER Customer Consultative Committee (OCCC) is an important part of the regulatory framework 
for the electricity, gas and water and sewerage industries. The OCCC provides a forum for organisations 
representing customer interests to discuss issues in the various industries with the Regulator. 

The OCCC met on four occasions during 2016-17 and the minutes of those meetings are available on 
the Regulator’s website. The OCCC members, and the frequency of their attendance at meetings for the 
year, are listed below: 

 Anglicare Tasmania Inc (2) 

 Tasmanian Farmers and Graziers Association (0) 

 Tasmanian Chamber of Commerce and Industry (1) 

 Tasmanian Council of Social Service Inc (4) 

 Flinders Council (4) 

 Local Government Association of Tasmania (3) 

 Tasmanian Division of the Property Council of Australia (1) 
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 Tasmanian Small Business Council (4) 

Representatives from the Tasmanian Ombudsman’s office and the Australian Competition and 
Consumer Commission also attended two meetings. 

6.2.6 Australian Energy Regulator  

Tasmania has been a participating jurisdiction in the NEM since May 2005. As a participating jurisdiction 
in the NEM, electricity businesses operating in Tasmania are bound by the National Electricity Law (NEL) 
and the National Electricity Rules (NER). 

Tasmania has also been a signatory to the Australian Energy Market Agreement (AEM Agreement) since 
its inception on 30 June 2004. In accordance with the AEM Agreement, the economic regulation of 
transmission and distribution networks and non-price regulation of retail functions has been 
progressively transferred to the AER. 

The economic regulation of the transmission network transferred to the ACCC in 2003 and subsequently 
to the AER on its establishment. The AER is now also responsible for making distribution determinations 
for TasNetworks Pty Ltd and the first determination took effect on 1 July 2012. 

On 1 July 2012, Tasmania implemented the national framework for the sale and supply of electricity to 
retail customers, and this resulted in a further transfer of non-economic regulatory functions to the 
AER. 

OTTER continues to work co-operatively with the AER to provide background information and historical 
data (for example, revenue models from previous investigations and data on performance and financial 
ring fenced accounting data) to assist the AER. 

6.2.7 Australian Energy Market Commission  

Under NEL, National Gas Law, and the National Energy Retail Law, the AEMC is responsible for Rule 
making and market development relating to the NEM. 

From time to time, the AEMC may undertake reviews into the effectiveness of competition in the 
electricity and/or gas markets or retail energy market in various jurisdictions. 

In early 2012, the AEMC commenced discussions with OTTER with respect to the development of a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) setting out the arrangements between the AEMC and the 
Regulator to promote effective communication, cooperation and coordination between the 
organisations in the performance of their respective roles and functions in the electricity and gas supply 
industries. On 15 June 2012, the Regulator endorsed a draft MoU, subject to some minor amendments 
concerning certain factual matters. The MoU was subsequently finalised and executed by the Chairmen 
of both authorities on 5 April 2013. 

6.2.8 Ombudsman Tasmania 

The Energy Ombudsman Act 1998 provides for the Ombudsman to receive, investigate and resolve 
complaints concerning any service relating to the sale and supply of electricity or gas by an energy entity. 
In respect of the water and sewerage industry, the Ombudsman Act 1978 provides for the Ombudsman 
to initiate, investigate and resolve complaints concerning the provision of regulated water and sewerage 
services. 

In 2005, the then Regulator signed a MoU with the former Energy Ombudsman for the purpose of, 
amongst other things, setting out a framework for co-operation between the two Offices. 
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The Regulator’s MoU with the Ombudsman was revised in May 2011 to extend its coverage from energy 
matters to matters relating to the water and sewerage industry. The MoU was again revised in April 
2016 with the updating of relevant dates and signatory information so as to correctly reflect the names 
and position titles of the current office bearers.   

The MoU provides for the sharing of information and relevant reports of investigations. It also provides 
for the Ombudsman to make information available to the Regulator regarding any systemic issues 
identified in relation to industry compliance with the various regulatory instruments. 

6.2.9 WorkSafe Tasmania 

WorkSafe Tasmania (WT) is an independent agency within the Department of Justice that administers 
the processes and requirements of the Electricity Industry Safety and Administration Act 1997 including 
electrical licensing and technical safety. 

The Director of Gas Safety and the Gas Standards and Safety Unit of WT administer the safety aspects 
of the Gas Act and Gas Pipelines Act. 

Meetings between officers of the OTTER and WT are held as required. 

6.2.10 Government Business (Energy) Branch of the Department of State 

Growth 

The Government Business (Energy) Branch within the Department of State Growth is primarily 
responsible for providing policy advice on energy issues to the Minister for Energy and the State 
Government. 

The Government Business (Energy) Branch also represents Tasmania on a range of policy investigations 
and procedural matters, is actively involved in implementing changes to the legislative framework 
(which regulates the Tasmanian energy sector), and has a role in planning preparedness for energy 
supply emergencies. 

Representatives of the Government Business (Energy) Branch and staff from the OTTER liaise on energy 
matters as required. 

6.2.11 Customer education 

OTTER has sought to raise customer awareness about electricity retail contestability and, in doing so, 
maintains an educational website entitled ‘Power to Choose’ at www.power.tas.gov.au. After the 
introduction of NECF on 1 July 2012, OTTER has continued to assist customers with their queries 
concerning contestability. 

 Consultation Policy and Procedures of the Tasmanian 

Economic Regulator Guideline 

The Regulator is committed to consulting and engaging with its stakeholders and the community, 
wherever relevant, and acknowledges the importance of information sharing about its policies and 
processes. The purpose of the Consultation Policy and Procedures of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator 
Guideline (the Consultation Guideline) is to facilitate the consultation policy and procedures that best 
engage and inform entities, consumers or other persons affected by the exercise of the Regulator’s 
discretion when altering or affecting their rights or obligations. The Regulator applies the Consultation 
Guideline in performing its functions and exercising its powers. 

http://www.power.tas.gov.au/
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6.3.1 Consultation Guideline amendments 

During 2016-17, the Regulator made minor amendments to the Consultation Guideline to remove the 
requirement for the Regulator to publish a separate statement of reasons for decisions that are 
substantial and lengthy in nature. The amendments provided that the Regulator, after a consultation 
period closes, would continue to publish its decision and reasons on its website, however that this would 
no longer have to be in the specific format of a separate ‘statement of reasons’ document. Amendments 
were also made to remove the reference to notification of the making of a decision ‘by notice in 
newspapers’, as this was considered to precede the now much more prevalent use of the internet by 
the general public to access information. As the amendments to the Consultation Guideline were 
deemed as not affecting the rights or obligations of entities, consumers or other persons, they were 
‘fast tracked’. The changes became effective as Version 6 from 23 November 2016. 

6.3.2 Policy on the treatment of confidential submissions 

In August 2003, the Regulator published its Policy on the Treatment of Confidential Submissions. The 
Policy provides guidance on the Regulator’s responsibilities with respect to consultation and the 
principles governing confidential submissions. Revised versions of the Policy have been published over 
time with the most recent, Version 3.0, taking effect on 1 July 2014. 

6.3.3 Consultations 

During 2016-17, apart from meetings with stakeholders and customer groups the Regulator formally 
consulted on the following matters: 

 MAIB 2017 Pricing Policies Investigation; 

 2016 Network Reliability Review; 

 2016 Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument Pricing Investigation; 

 2017 Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument Pricing Investigation; 

 Structure of Licence Fees for 1 July 2017 - 30 June 2021; and 

 Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Industry Performance and Information Reporting Guideline.  

 Right to Information 

The Right to Information Act 2009 (RTI Act) provides access to information held by government bodies 
through: 

 authorising and encouraging greater routine disclosure of information held by public authorities 

without the need for requests or applications; 

 authorising and encouraging greater active disclosure of information held by public authorities in 

response to informal requests without the need for applications; 

 giving members of the public an enforceable right to information held by public authorities; and 

 providing that access to information held by government bodies is restricted in only limited 

circumstances as defined in the RTI Act. 
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The Regulator, as a public authority, is required by the RTI Act to make information available to the 
public through proactive disclosure. It routinely makes information available on the OTTER website, 
which assists the public in understanding what it does and how it does it. 

Some information is not released in this way, either because it is not of general public interest or 
because it is information that the Regulator would need to assess against the exemptions in the RTI Act 
prior to disclosure. 

Even with the requirements of the RTI Act, there are circumstances where information held by the 
Regulator will not be released, including where: 

 it has been classified by the Regulator as confidential under the ESI Act; 

 the Regulator gives a direction prohibiting or restricting the publication of information provided as 

part of a monopoly provider investigation, a prescribed body inquiry or a competitive neutrality 

complaint investigation under the ER Act; or 

 it is confidential and the person who provided it stated, at the time, that it is confidential and its 

release is not otherwise authorised under the W&SI Act. 

The Regulator updated its Information Disclosure Policy and Procedures in December 2015 to reflect 
changes to government policy on the publication of information released under the RTI Act. The 
Regulator did not receive any requests for information under the RTI Act during 2016-17. 

 Presentations to stakeholders 

During the course of the year, OTTER staff provided briefings on matters associated with electricity and 
water and sewerage regulation to various stakeholders.  

 Media 

The Regulator’s media releases for 2016-17 are available on the Regulator’s website. 
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 Publications 

The Regulator published the following documents during 2016-17: 

Publication Released 

Review of the Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument Draft Report 19 Aug 16 

APAYG Price Comparison Report (rates as at 23 July 2016) 23 Aug 16 

Comparison of Australian Standing Offer Energy Prices Report as at 1 August 2016 23 Aug 16 

2016 Network Reliability Review Draft Report 7 Sep 16 

Annual Report 2015-16 14 Oct 16 

2016 Network Reliability Review Final Report 27 Oct 16 

2015-16 Energy in Tasmania Report 9 Dec 16 

Final Report - Review of the Electricity Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument 21 Dec 16 

Comparison of Australian Standing Offer Energy Prices Report as at 1 February 2017 24 Feb 17 

Review of the Wholesale Contract Regulatory Instrument Final Report 23 Mar 17 

Tasmanian Water and Sewerage State of the Industry Report 2015-16 29 Mar 17 

MAIB Draft Report 23 May 17 
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7  KEY PROJECTS AND TASKS FOR 

2017-18 

 Approximate 
publication 

Regulator’s recommendation to the Government of the MAIB’s maximum premiums from 
1 December 2017  

July 2017 

Electricity Prepayment Price comparison report August 2017 

Electricity standing offer price comparison report August 2017 

The Regulator’s new website released September 2017 

Energy in Tasmania 2016-17 Report November 2017 

Regulator’s 2016-17 Annual Report  October 2017 

Water and Sewerage Price Determination Investigation draft report and draft determination 
for public comment 

December 2017 

Electricity standing offer price comparison report February 2018 

State of the Water and Sewerage Industry Report 2016-17 March 2018 

Water and Sewerage Price Determination Investigation final report and determination released April 2018 

Regulator’s approval of Aurora Energy’s 2018-19 electricity prices June 2018 

Regulator’s approval of Regulated 2018-19 Feed-in-Tariff June 2018 

Regulator’s approval of Bass Strait Island’s 2018-19 electricity prices June 2018 

Regulator’s approval of TasWater’s Price and Service Plan to apply from 1 July 2018 to 
30 June 2021 

June 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 47 

8 FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Table of Contents 

Certification of Financial Statements 48 

Independent Auditor’s Report 49 

Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2017 52 

Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2017 53 

Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2017 54 

Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2017 55 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 56 

  



48 ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 

Certification of Financial Statements 

For the period ended 30 June 2017 

 

The accompanying Financial Statements of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Economic Regulator Act 2009. 

The Statements are in agreement with the relevant accounts and records so as to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position as at 30 June 2017. 

At the date of signing, I am not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the 
Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate. 

 

Joe Dimasi 

Tasmanian Economic Regulator 

10 August 2017 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Members of Parliament 
 
Office of Tasmanian Economic Regulator 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
 
Opinion 
 
I have audited the financial report of Office of Tasmanian Economic Regulator (the Office), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 and statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the statement of 
compliance by the Regulator. 
 
In my opinion, the accompanying financial report:  

(a) presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Office as at 30 June 
2017 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

(b) is in accordance with the Economic Regulator Act 2009 and Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
 
I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of my report. I am independent of the Office in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report 
in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by 
Parliament.  The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is 
not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be exercised. 
The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and 
property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-General’s opinion are 
significant. 
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I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of the Regulator for the Financial Report 
 
The Regulator is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial reporting requirements of the 
Economic Regulator Act 2009 and for such internal control as he determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Regulator is responsible for assessing the Office’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Office is to be dissolved by an Act of Parliament, 
or the Regulator intends to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Office’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Regulator.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Regulator’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Office’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am 
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusion is based 
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on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Office to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
I communicate with the Regulator regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during my audit. 
 

 
E R De Santi 
Deputy Auditor-General 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
 
Tasmanian Audit Office 
 
25 September 2017 
Hobart  
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Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Comprehensive Income for 
the year ended 30 June 2017 

  2017  2017  2016  

 Notes Budget  Actual  Actual  

  $’000  $’000  $’000  

Revenue and other income from transactions     

Fees and fines 1.1 1 588  1 854  1 790  

Total revenue and other income from transactions  1 588  1 854  1 790  

     

Expenses from transactions     

Employee benefits 2.1 1 398  1 237  1 202  

Supplies and consumables 2.2 421  570  543   

Other expenses  2.3 6  6  7  

Total expenses from transactions   1 825  1 813  1 752  

     

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)  (237) 41  38  

Comprehensive result  (237) 41  38  

     

 

This Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 
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Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Financial Position as at 
30 June 2017 

  2017  2017  2016  

 Notes Budget  Actual  Actual  

  $’000  $’000  $’000  

Assets     

Cash and deposits 6.1 17  355  108  

Receivables 3.1 …  …  42  

Other financial assets 3.2 215  224  229  

Other assets  210  …  …  

Total assets  442  579  379  

     

Liabilities     

Payables 4.1 20  7  6  

Employee benefits 4.2 390  273  273  

Other liabilities 4.3 155  160  1  

Total liabilities  565  440  280  

     

Net assets  (123) 139  99  

     

Equity     

Accumulated funds  (123) 139  99  

Total equity  (123) 139  99  

     

 
This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 
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Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Cash Flows for the year 
ended 30 June 2017 

  2017  2017  2016  

 Notes Budget  Actual  Actual  

  $’000  $’000  $’000  

Cash flows from operating activities     

Cash inflows     

Fees and fines  1 584  2 060  1 533  

Total cash inflows  1 584  2 060  1 533  

     

Cash outflows     

Employee benefits  (1 359) (1 237) (1 287) 

Supplies and consumables  (423) (570) (366) 

Other cash payments  (6) (6) (8) 

Total cash outflows  (1 788) (1 813) (1 661) 

Net cash from (used by) operating activities 6.2 (204) 248  (128) 

     

     

Net increase (decrease) in cash held and cash equivalents 

 

 

(204) 248  (128) 

Cash and deposits at the beginning of the reporting period 

 

 

221  108  236  

Cash and deposits at the end of the reporting period 6.1 17  355  108  

     

 

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 
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Tasmanian Economic Regulator Statement of Changes in Equity for the 
year ended 30 June 2017 

   Accumulated   

funds) 

Total  

Equity  

   $’000  $’000  

Balance as at 1 July 2016   99  99  

Total Comprehensive result   41  41  

Balance as at 30 June 2017   139  139  

     

 

   Accumulated   

funds) 

Total  

Equity  

   $’000  $’000  

Balance as at 1 July 2015   61  61  

Total Comprehensive result   38  38  

Balance as at 30 June 2016   99  99  
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 
30 June 2017 
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Note 1 Income from transactions 

Income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when an increase in future economic benefits 
related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

1.1 Fees and fines 

Income from fees and fines is recognised on an accrual basis where possible, otherwise as it is received. Licence 
fees are recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the period that they relate to. 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Fees   

Recoveries from competitive neutrality activities 25  55  

Recoveries from electricity related activities 872  969  

Recoveries from gas related activities 108  24  

Recovery of Director of Gas Safety related activities 203  193  

Recoveries from Motor Accidents Insurance Board related activities  208  …  

Recoveries from water and sewerage activities 438  549  

Total 1 854  1 790  

   

Note 2 Expenses from transactions 

Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when a decrease in future economic benefits 
related to a decrease in asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

2.1 Employee benefits 

(a) Employee expenses 

Employee benefits include, where applicable, entitlements to wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, 
long service leave, superannuation and any other post-employment benefits. 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Wages and salaries 905  928  

Annual leave 86  50  

Long service leave 6  10  

Sick leave 23  8  

Superannuation – defined contribution schemes 75  88  

Superannuation – defined benefit scheme 62  47  

Board member fees 80  71  

Total 1 237  1 202  

   

 

Superannuation expenses relating to the defined benefit scheme relate to payments made to the Consolidated 
Fund. The amount of the payment is based on an employer contribution rate determined by the Treasurer, on the 
advice of the State Actuary. The employer contribution for the period was 12.85 per cent (2016: 12.75 per cent) 
of salary.   

Superannuation expenses relating to defined contribution schemes are paid directly to the relevant 
superannuation fund at a rate of 9.5 per cent (2016: 9.5 per cent) of salary. In addition, the Regulator is also 
required to pay to the Consolidated Fund a “gap” payment equivalent to 3.35 per cent (2016: 3.25 per cent) of 
salary in respect of employees who are members of defined contribution schemes. 
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(b) Remuneration of Key management personnel 

2017 Short-term benefits Long-term benefits  

 Salary  Other Benefits  Superan-nuation Other Benefits 

and Long Service 

Leave 

Total  

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

Key management personnel      

Joe Dimasi, Chair 81  …  8  …  89  

Total 81  …  8  …  89  

      

 

2016 Short-term benefits Long-term benefits  

 Salary  Other Benefits  Superannuation Other Benefits 

and Long Service 

Leave  

Total  

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

Key management personnel      

Joe Dimasi, Chair 51  …  5  …  56  

Appointed 9 November 2015        

Glenn Appleyard, Chair 26  …  2  …  28  

Ceased 18 November 2015           

Total 77  …  7  …  84  

      

 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Regulator, directly or indirectly.  

Remuneration during 2016-17 for key personnel is set by the Treasurer under section 9.1 of the 
Economic Regulator Act 2009. Remuneration and other terms of employment are specified in employment 
contracts. Remuneration includes salary and other non-monetary benefits. Long-term employee expenses include 
long service leave and superannuation obligations. 

(c)  Related party transactions 

There are no related party transactions requiring disclosure. 

2.2 Supplies and consumables 

The Regulator is prohibited by Treasurer’s Instruction 502 Leases from holding finance leases.  

The Regulator has entered into a number of operating lease agreements for property, plant and equipment, where 
the lessors effectively retain all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items leased. Equal 
instalments of lease payments are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the lease term, as 
this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property. 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Audit fees – financial audit 6  12  

Consultants 63  …  

Maintenance and property services 70  106  

Communications 10  10  

Information technology 79  71  

Travel and transport 28  19  

Advertising and promotion 2  …  

Other supplies and consumables 109  132  

Transfers to other agencies 203  193  

Total 570  543  
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2.3 Other expenses 

Expenses from ordinary activities are recognised when it is probable that the consumption or loss of future 
economic benefits resulting in a reduction in assets and/or an increase in liabilities has occurred and the 
consumption or loss of future economic benefits can be measured reliably.  

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Salary on-costs   

Workers compensation 6  7  

Total 6  7  

   

 

Note 3  Assets 

Assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
will flow to the Regulator and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably. 

3.1 Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any impairment losses, however, due to the short settlement 
period, receivables are not discounted back to their present value.  

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Receivables …  42  

Total  …  42  

   

Settled within 12 months …  42  

Total  …  42  

3.2 Other financial assets 

The Regulator records accrued revenue at the expected recovery amount. 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Accrued revenue 224  229  

Total  224  229  

   

Settled within 12 months 224  229  

Total  224  229  
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Note 4 Liabilities 

Liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation and the amount at which the 
settlement will take place can be measured reliably. 

4.1 Payables 

Payables, including goods received and services incurred but not yet invoiced, are recognised at amortised cost, 
which due to the short settlement period, equates to face value, when the Regulator becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Creditors 2  2  

Accrued expenses 4  4  

Paid Parental Leave 1  …  

Total 7  6  

   

Settled within 12 months 7  6  

Total 7  6  

   

Settlement is usually made within 30 days. 

4.2 Employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised when an employee becomes entitled to receive 
a benefit. Those liabilities expected to be realised within 12 months are measured as the amount expected to be 
paid. Other employee entitlements are measured as the present value of the benefit at 30 June 2017, where the 
impact of discounting is material, and at the amount expected to be paid if discounting is not material. 

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Accrued salaries 10  4  

Annual leave 71  61  

Long service leave 188  204  

Other – Purchased Leave Scheme 
 

4  4  

Total 273  273  

   

Expected to settle wholly within 12 months 116  101  

Expected to settle wholly after 12 months 157  172  

Total 273  273  
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4.3 Other liabilities 

(i) Employee on-costs 

On-costs, such as workers’ compensation premiums, are recognised when the employment to which they relate 
has occurred. Employee on-costs are calculated on the value of the expected employee benefits to be settled.  

Those liabilities expected to be realised within 12 months are measured as the amount expected to be paid. 
On-costs calculated on the long service leave liability expected to be settled after 12 months are measured as the 
present value of expected future payments in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.  

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Revenue received in advance   

Other revenue received in advance 159  …  

   

Other liabilities   

Employee benefits – on-costs 1  1  

Total 160  1  

   

Settled within 12 months 160  1  

Total  160  1  

   

 

Note 5 Commitments and Contingencies 

5.1 Schedule of Commitments 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

By type   

Operating Lease Commitments   

Buildings …  70  

Total operating lease commitments …  70  

   

Contractual Commitments   

Administration and Facilities 191  188  

Total contractual commitments 191  188  

   

By maturity   

Operating lease commitments   

One year or less …  70  

From one to five years …  …  

Total operating lease commitments  …  70  

   

Contractual Commitments   

One year or less 191  188  

Total contractual commitments 191  188  

   

 

The Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator pays the Department of Treasury and Finance for the use of its 
premises.  It pays facilities, information technology and other administration costs under an Annual Service Level 
Agreement.  
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Note 6  Cash Flow Reconciliation 

Cash means notes, coins, any deposits held at call with a bank or financial institution, as well as funds held in the 
Special Deposits and Trust Fund. Deposits are recognised at amortised cost, being their face value.  

6.1 Cash and deposits 

Cash and deposits includes the balance of the Special Deposits and Trust Fund Accounts held by the Regulator.  

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Special Deposits and Trust Fund balance   

T654 Government Economic Regulator Account 355  108  

Total cash and deposits 355  108  

   

6.2 Reconciliation of Net Result to Net Cash from Operating Activities 

 2017  2016  

 $’000  $’000  

Net result 41  38  

Decrease (increase) in Receivables 42  (42) 

Decrease (increase) in Other financial assets 5  (22) 

Decrease (increase) in Other assets …  206  

Increase (decrease) in Payables 2  (11) 

Increase (decrease) in Employee benefits …  (85) 

Increase (decrease) in Other liabilities 158  (212) 

Net cash from (used by) operating activities 248  (128) 

   

Note 7 Financial Instruments 

7.1 Risk exposures 

(a) Risk management policies 

The Regulator has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:  

 credit risk; 

 liquidity risk; and 

 market risk. 

The Regulator has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Regulator’s risk management 
framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse risks faced by the Regulator, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  
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(b) Credit risk exposures 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Regulator if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations.  

Financial Instrument Accounting and strategic policies (including 

recognition criteria and measurement 

basis) 

Nature of underlying instrument (including significant terms 

and conditions affecting the amount. Timing and certainty of 

cash flows) 

Financial Assets 

Receivables Receivables are recognised at the 
nominal amounts due, less any 
provision for impairment. 

Collectability of debts is reviewed on a 
monthly basis. Provisions are made 
when collection of the debt is judged to 
be less rather than more likely. 

Credit terms are generally 30 days. 

Cash and deposits Cash and deposits are recognised at 

face value.  

It is a requirement for any changes in 

deposit strategy to be approved by the 

Treasurer. 

Cash means notes, coins and any deposits held at call 

with a bank or financial institution 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the Financial Statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the Regulator’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral or other 
security. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Regulator will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Regulator’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when they fall due.  

Financial Instrument Accounting and strategic policies (including 

recognition criteria and measurement basis) 

Nature of underlying instrument (including significant terms and 

conditions affecting the amount. Timing and certainty of cash 

flows) 

Financial Liabilities 

Payables Payables, including goods received 

and services incurred but not yet 

invoiced, are recognised at amortised 

cost, which due to the short 

settlement period, equates to face 

value, when the Regulator becomes 

obliged to make future payments as a 

result of a purchase of assets or 

services. 

The Regulator regularly reviews 

budgeted cash outflows to ensure 

that there is sufficient cash to meet all 

obligations. 

Settlement is usually made within 30 days. 
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The following tables detail the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Regulator by remaining contractual 
maturity for its financial liabilities. It should be noted that as these are undiscounted, totals may not reconcile to 
the carrying amounts presented in the Statement of Financial Position: 

2017 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities  

 1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years  5 Years 

More 

than 5 

Years 

Undiscounted 

Total 

Carrying 

Amount 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial liabilities         

Payables 7  …  …  …  …  …  7  7  

Total  7  …  …  …  …  …  7  7  

 
 

2016 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities  

 1 Year 2 Years 3 Years 4 Years  5 Years 

More 

than 5 

Years 

Undiscounted 

Total 

Carrying 

Amount 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial liabilities         

Payables 6  …  …  …  …  …  6  6  

Total  6  …  …  …  …  …  6  6  

(d) Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. The primary market risk that the Regulator is exposed to is interest rate risk.  

7.2 Categories of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 2017  2016  

 $'000  $'000  

Financial assets   

Cash and deposits 355  108  

Receivables …  42  

Accrued revenue 224  229  

Total 579  379  

   

Financial liabilities   

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 7  6  

Total 7  6  

   

7.3 Reclassifications of Financial Assets 

The Regulator has not reclassified any of its financial assets. 

Note 8 Events Occurring After Balance Date 

At the date of signing, there were no events subsequent to balance date which would have a material effect on 
the Regulator’s financial statements. 
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Note 9 Significant Accounting Policies 

The following summary explains the significant accounting policies that have been adopted in the preparation of 
this general purpose financial report. Unless otherwise stated, the accounting policies are consistent with those 
applied in the previous year.  

The Regulator is independent of the Tasmanian Government and the industries it regulates. The Regulator has 
responsibilities under the Economic Regulator Act 2009, Economic Regulator Amendment Act 2015, Water and 
Sewerage Industry Act 2008, Electricity Supply Industry Act 1995 and the Gas Act 2000. 

9.1 Basis of Accounting 

The Financial Statements are a general purpose financial report and have been prepared in accordance with: 

 the Economic Regulator Act 2009; and 

 Australian Accounting Standards issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared as a going concern. The continued existence of the Regulator in its 
present form, undertaking its current activities, is dependent on Government policy and on continuing 
appropriations by Parliament. 

All activities of the Regulator are transacted through the Special Deposits and Trust Fund Account 
T654 Government  Economic Regulator Account. 

Australian Accounting Standards include Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. 
Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as AEIFRS 
includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The 
Regulator is considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not 
comply with IFRS. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis, except where stated, and are in accordance 
with the historical cost convention. 

The financial statements were signed by the Regulator on 10 August 2017. 

9.2 Functional and Presentation Currency 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Regulator’s functional currency.  

9.3 Changes in Accounting Policies 

(a) Impact of new and revised Accounting Standards 

In the current year, the Regulator has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual 
reporting period. These include: 

2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities - The objective of this Standard is to make amendments to AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures to extend the scope of that Standard to include not-for-profit public sector entities. This Standard 
applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016. The impact is increased disclosure in relation 
to related parties. There is no financial impact. 
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(b) Impact of applicable new and revised Accounting Standards yet to be applied 

The following applicable Standards have been issued by the AASB and are yet to be applied: 

 AASB 9 Financial Instruments and 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2014) - the objective of these Standards is to establish principles for the financial reporting 
of financial assets and financial liabilities that will present relevant information to users of financial 
statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing, uncertainty of an entity’s future cash flows, and to 
make amendments to various accounting standards as a consequence of the issuance of AASB 9. These 
standards apply to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The future impact is 
improved disclosure. There is no financial impact is expected. 

 AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – The objective of this Standard is to establish the principles 
that an entity shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing, an uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. In 
accordance with 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Effective Date of AASB 15, this 
Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 for not-for-profit entities. 
Where an entity applies the Standard to an earlier annual reporting period, it shall disclose that fact. The 
future impact is increased disclosure. The financial impact is expected to be minimal. 

 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 – The objective of this 
Standard is to make amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations arising from the 
issuance of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This Standard applies when AASB 15 is applied, 
except that the amendments to AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) apply to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. This Standard shall be applied when AASB 15 is 
applied. The financial impact is minimal. 

 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107 – 
The objective of this Standard is to amend AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows to require entities preparing 
statements in accordance with Tier 1 reporting requirements to provide disclosures that enable users of 
financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. This Standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2017. The impact is increased disclosure in relation to cash flows and non-cash changes. 

 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarifications to AASB 15 - The objective of this 
Standard is to clarify the requirements on identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent 
considerations and the timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence. This Standard applies to annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The impact is enhanced disclosure in relation to revenue. The 
financial impact is minimal.  

 AABS 16 Leases – The objective of this Standard is to introduce a single lessee accounting model and require 
a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of low value. This Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. The impact is enhanced disclosure in relation to leases. The financial impact is minimal. 

 AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities - The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for 
not-for-profit entities that apply to transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly 
less that fair value principally to enable a not-for-profit entity to further its objectives, and the receipt of 
volunteer services. This Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
The impact is enhanced disclosure in relation to income of not-for-profit entities. The financial impact is 
minimal. 
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9.4 Judgements and Assumptions 

In the application of Australian Accounting Standards, the Regulator is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Judgements made by the Regulator that have significant effects on the Financial Statements are disclosed in the 
relevant notes to the Financial Statements. The Regulator has made no assumptions concerning the future that 
may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. 

9.5 Foreign Currency 

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the exchange rates current as at balance date. 

9.6 Comparative Figures  

Comparative figures have been adjusted to reflect any changes in accounting policy or the adoption of new 
standards.  

9.7 Rounding 

All amounts in the Financial Statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
stated. As a consequence, rounded figures may not add to totals. Where the result of expressing amounts to the 
nearest thousand dollars would result in an amount of zero, the financial statement will contain a note expressing 
the amount to the nearest whole dollar. 

9.8 Taxation 

The Regulator is exempt from all forms of taxation except Fringe Benefits Tax and the Goods and Services Tax. 

9.9 Goods and Services Tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax, except where the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
GST. The net amount recoverable, or payable, to the ATO is recognised as an asset or liability within the Statement 
of Financial Position. 
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9  GLOSSARY 

Term Definition 

AEMC Australian Energy Market Commission 

AEMO Australian Energy Market Operator 

AER Australian Energy Regulator 

Aurora Energy Aurora Energy Pty Ltd 

APAYG Aurora Pay As You Go 

Basslink Basslink Pty Ltd 

BSI Bass Strait Islands 

Customer Service Code Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Industry Customer Service Code 

EISA Act Electricity Industry Safety and Administration Act 1997 

ER Act Economic Regulator Act 2009 

ESI Act Electricity Supply Industry Act 1995 

FiT Feed-in Tariff 

Gas Act Gas Act 2000  

Gas Pipelines Act Gas Pipelines Act 2000  

Hydro Tasmania Hydro-Electric Corporation 

MoU Memorandum of Understanding 

NECF National Energy Customer Framework 

NEL National Electricity Law 

NEM National Electricity Market 

NER National Electricity Rules 

NPR National Performance Report 

OCCC OTTER Customer Consultative Committee 

OTTER Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator 

Regulator Tasmanian Economic Regulator 

TasNetworks Tasmanian Networks Pty Ltd 

TasWater Tasmanian Water and Sewerage Corporation Pty Ltd  

TEC Tasmanian Electricity Code 
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Term Definition 

Transfer Code Gas Customer Transfer and Reconciliation Code 

Water and Sewerage Corporations Act Water and Sewerage Corporations Act 2008 

WT WorkSafe Tasmania 

W&SI Act Water and Sewerage Industry Act 2008 
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